
  1 

 

Agenda 

 
Contact Officer: Nicola Meurer, Democratic Services Officer, 
Democratic Services Officer 
 
Tel: 01235 422523 
 

 

E-mail: nicola.meurer@southandvale.gov.uk 
 
Date: 14 August 2018 
 
Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

 
 

A MEETING OF THE 
 

Planning Committee 

 

WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 22 AUGUST 2018 AT 6.30 PM 
 

THE RIDGEWAY, THE BEACON, PORTWAY, WANTAGE, OX12 9BY 
 

Members of the Committee: 

Sandy Lovatt (Chairman) 

Janet Shelley (Vice-
Chairman) 
Stuart Davenport 
Robert Hall 
 

Jenny Hannaby 
Anthony Hayward 
Bob Johnston 
 

Ben Mabbett 
Catherine Webber 
 

 
Substitutes Councillors 

Yvonne Constance 
Margaret Crick 
St John Dickson 

Katie Finch 
Chris Palmer 
Helen Pighills 

Julia Reynolds 
Reg Waite 

 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this 
agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting. 

 
 



  2 

 

 
1.  Chairman's announcements   

 
To receive any announcements from the chairman, and general housekeeping 
matters. 

 
2.  Apologies for absence   

 
To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.   

 
3.  Minutes  (Pages 4 - 15) 

 
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the 
meeting held on 11 July and 1 August 2018.   
 
4.  Declarations of interest   

 
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.    
 
5.  Urgent business   

 
To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent.   
 
6.  Public participation   

 
To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak 
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.   

 
 

Planning applications 
 

All the background papers, with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (e.g. within Enforcement Files) used in the following reports 
within this agenda are held (normally electronically) in the application file (working 
file) and referenced by its application number.  These are available to view at the 
Council Offices (135 Milton Park, Milton) during normal office hours. 
 
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  3 

 

 
Summary index of applications 

 

 Site Address Proposal Application No Page. 

     
7.  36 Aldworth 

Avenue, 
Wantage, OX12 
7EJ   

First floor side extension. P18/V0847/HH 16 - 23 

 

     
8.  Corbiere, 

Springfield 
Road, Wantage, 
OX12 8EX   

First floor extension to existing 
bungalow. Single storey extension to 
the front and rear. Remodelling of 
floor area. Demolish existing garage 
and conservatory areas. 

P18/V1049/HH 24 - 35 

 

     
9.  Land south of 

Kennington, 
East of 
Kennington 
Road, 
Kennington, 
Oxford   

Hybrid application consisting of (a) full 
planning application for the erection of 
283 dwellings with two vehicular 
access points onto Kennington Road,  
play area, public open space, 
attenuation basins and associated 
infrastructure and (b) Outline planning 
application for a 0.18ha site for 
community use (Class D1) building. 

P17/V2961/FUL 36 - 72 

 

     
10.  Land North of 

Summertown, 
East Hanney   

Approval of details for construction of 
45 dwellings (Use Class C3) and 
associated parking, infrastructure and 
landscaping, and provision of public 
open space. 

P17/V2973/RM 73 - 91 

 

     
11.  27 Ormond 

Road, Wantage, 
OX12 8DZ   

Erection of a single storey rear 
extension and detached outbuilding, 
with subdivision to form four self-
contained residential units. 

P18/V1198/FUL 92 - 101 

 

     
12.  59 Faringdon 

Road, Stanford 
In The Vale, 
Faringdon, SN7 
8NN   

Proposed new dwelling and garage 
on land adjacent to 59 Faringdon 
Road. 

P18/V0891/FUL 102 - 
109 

 

     
13.  108 North 

Hinksey Lane, 
Oxford, OX2 
0LY   

Single storey rear extension. P18/V1328/HH 110 - 
115 

 

 
 
 
MARGARET REED 

Head of Legal and Democratic  



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 11 July 2018  Pl.1 

Minutes 

of a meeting of the 

Planning Committee 

held on Wednesday 11 July 2018 at 6.30 pm 
in The Beacon, Portway, Wantage, OX12 9BY 
 

 

 

Open to the public, including the press 
 

Present:  
 
Members: Councillors Sandy Lovatt (Chairman), Robert Hall, Jenny Hannaby, 
Ben Mabbett, Judy Roberts (in place of Bob Johnston) and Reg Waite (in place of Janet 
Shelley) 
 
Officers: Steve Culliford, Martin Deans, Adrian Duffield, Andy Heron and Stuart Walker 
 
Also present: Councillors Margaret Crick and Vicky Jenkins 
 
Number of members of the public: 23 

 
 

Pl.23 Chairman's announcements  
 
The chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed, 
and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements.   
 

Pl.24 Apologies for absence  
 
Councillors Stuart Davenport, Anthony Hayward, Bob Johnston, Janet Shelley, and 
Catherine Webber had submitted their apologies for absence.  Councillors Judy Roberts 
and Reg Waite attended as substitutes for Councillors Bob Johnston and Janet Shelley 
respectively.   
 

Pl.25 Minutes  
 
RESOLVED: to adopt the minutes of the committee meeting held on 18 June 2018 as a 
correct record and agree that the chairman signs them as such.   
 

Pl.26 Declarations of interest  
 
None 
 

Pl.27 Urgent business  
 
None 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 11 July 2018  Pl.2 

Pl.28 Public participation  
 
The list of registered public speakers was table at the meeting.   
 

Pl.29 P18/V0069/O - Land at Appleford Road, Sutton Courtenay  
 
The committee considered application P18/V0069/O for the residential development of 91 
dwellings and associated access on land at Appleford Road, Sutton Courtenay.   
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.   
 
David Hignall, a representative of Sutton Courtenay Parish Council, spoke objecting to the 
application.   
 
David Hignall, a representative of the Millennium Common Management Committee, 
spoke objecting to the application.   
 
Vickesh Rathod, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application.   
 
In response to questions raised by the committee, the officers reported that:  

 all matters were reserved except for access arrangements   

 the County Council had no objection on highways grounds  
 
A motion, moved and seconded, to delegate authority to approve the application, was 
declared carried on being put to the vote.   
 
RESOLVED: to authorise the head of planning to grant planning permission for application 
P18/V0069/O subject to: 
 
(a) a Section 106 legal agreement being entered into to secure financial contributions 

towards local infrastructure, to secure 35% affordable housing and an affordable 
housing tenure mix of 75% affordable rented and 25% shared ownership; public open 
spaces and play areas to be transferred to a management company; and 
contributions towards bin provision, public art, and street naming; and  
 

(b) the following conditions: 
 
Standard 
1. Standard outline condition. 
2. Standard reserved matters condition. 
3. Standard commencement condition. 
4. Approved plans. 
 
Prior to commencement 
5. Travel plan. 
6. Tree protection. 
7. Slab levels. 
8. Drainage strategy. 
9. Contamination. 
10. Water supply infrastructure. 
11. Sustainable drainage scheme. 

Page 5



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 11 July 2018  Pl.3 

12. Access and visibility. 
 
Prior to occupation 
13. Travel and information plan. 
14. Travel plan. 
15. Verification report. 
16. Public open space. 
 
Compliance 
17. Reserved matters design principles. 
18. Land use miscellaneous. 
19. Landscaping scheme. 
20. Unidentified contamination. 
21. Piling. 
22. No more than 91 dwellings. 
23. Hours of construction. 

 

Pl.30 P16/V0981/O - Monks Farm, Townsend, Grove  
 
The committee considered application P16/V0981/O for outline planning permission for up 
to 400 dwellings, the extension to Grove CE Primary School, associated landscaping and 
infrastructure, with all matters reserved except access, on land at Monks Farm, Townsend, 
Grove.   
 
Councillor Ben Mabbett, a local ward councillor, stepped down from the committee and 
took no part in the determination of this application.   
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.  The 
officer updated the committee, reporting that the Office of Rail and Road had written to 
support Network Rail’s objection to the application.   
 
Simon Joyce, representing Williams F1, spoke objecting to the application.   
 
Lisa Bullock, representing Network Rail, spoke objecting to the application.   
 
Andrew Raven, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application.   
 
Councillor Ben Mabbett, a local ward councillor, spoke in support of the application.   
 
In response to questions raised by the committee, the officers reported that:  

 a legal agreement could be used to overcome the possibility of a ransom strip 
preventing access to the remaining land within the site allocation   

 the council was not responsible for the safety of the railway crossings  

 the request for the applicant to provide a contribution towards footbridges over the 
railway was not proportionate to the proposed development   

 
A motion, moved and seconded, to delegate authority to approve the application, was 
declared carried on being put to the vote.   
 
RESOLVED: to authorise the head of planning to grant planning permission for application 
P16/V0981/O subject to:  

Page 6



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 11 July 2018  Pl.4 

 
(a) the completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure contributions towards local 

infrastructure, the transfer of land for primary school expansion and open space and 
to secure affordable housing, and  
 

(b) the following conditions (or provision in the Section 106 agreement as appropriate): 
 
Standard 
1. Reserved matters to be approved. 
2. Reserved matters time limit for submission. 
3. Time limit for implementation. 
4. Approved plans and documents list. 
5. Compliance with environmental statement. 

 
Pre-commencement 
6. Construction of site access. 
7. Construction traffic management plan. 
8. Sustainable drainage scheme. 
9. On-site foul drainage scheme. 
10. Contaminated land risk assessment. 
11. Construction environment plan (biodiversity). 
12. Habitat restoration method statement for the Letcombe Brook corridor. 
13. Letcombe Brook bridge details. 
14. Archaeology written scheme of investigation. 
15. Archaeology staged programme of investigation. 
 
With reserved matters 
16. Biodiversity enhancement plan. 
17. Tree protection details. 
18. Strategic Housing Market Assessment compliant housing mix. 
19. Levels. 
20. Noise mitigation. 
 
Pre-occupation 
21. Off-site foul drainage. 
22. Long-term management plan for the Letcombe Brook corridor. 
23. Residential travel plan. 
24. Provision of Denchworth Road link prior to 150th dwelling. 
25. Provision of A338 signalised junction prior to 150th dwelling. 
26. Connection links prior to occupation of final unit. 

 
Compliance 
27. Flood risk assessment. 
28. Electric charging points for market properties with garages. 
 
Informatives 
1. Planning obligation. 
2. Oxfordshire County Council rights of way advice notes. 
3. Broadband. 

 
 
 

Page 7



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 11 July 2018  Pl.5 

Pl.31 P18/V1221/T56 - Grass verge on Radley Road, Abingdon  
 
The committee considered application P18/V1221/T56 for the installation of a 15 metres 
high telecommunications telegraph pole and associated ground-based equipment on the 
grass verge at Radley Road, Abingdon.   
 
Councillor Robert Hall, a local ward councillor, stepped down from the committee and took 
no part in the determination of this application.   
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.   
 
Clare Rathbone spoke objecting to the application.   
 
Lindsey Woolford spoke objecting to the application.   
 
Carolyn Wilson, the applicant’s agent, spoke in support of the application.   
 
Councillor Vicky Jenkins, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.   
 
In response to questions raised by the committee, the officers reported that:  

 the only material planning consideration in this application was whether the visual 
impact was unacceptable  

 the committee had previously permitted a telecommunications mast 1 metre to the 
west of the proposed location  

 the proposal to move the mast was to avoid an underground water pipe  
 
A motion, moved and seconded, to approve the application, was declared carried on being 
put to the vote.   
 
RESOLVED: to give prior approval for application P18/V1221/T56.   
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 8.20 pm 
 

Page 8



Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 1 August 2018  Pl.1 

Minutes 

of a meeting of the 

Planning Committee 

held on Wednesday, 1 August 2018 at 6:30 pm 
in The Beacon, Portway, Wantage, OX12 9BY 
 

 

Open to the public, including the press 
 

Present:  
 
Members: Councillors Sandy Lovatt (Chairman), Janet Shelley (Vice-Chairman), 
Stuart Davenport, Robert Hall, Jenny Hannaby, Bob Johnston, Ben Mabbett and 
Catherine Webber. 
 
Officers: Nathaniel Bamsey, Holly Bates, Adrian Butler, Kathy Champion, Steve Culliford, 
Matt Gaskin, Emil Hamerton, Josh Sharp and Sally Straddling. 
 
Also present: Richard Peets of Historic England, Richard Warren of Oxfordshire County 
Council, Councillors Matthew Barber, Roger Cox, St John Dickson and Julia Reynolds. 
 
Number of members of the public: 30 

 

Pl.32 Chairman's announcements  
 
The chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed 
and advised on emergency evacuation arrangements. 
 
The officer updated the committee that a revised National Planning Policy Framework had 
been published on 24 July 2018.  The officers were satisfied that no agenda items needed 
to be deferred as a result of the revised framework as this was published since the 
publication of the committee’s agenda.  Officers would update the committee of any 
changes to reports upon presenting their item.  
 

Pl.33 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Anthony Hayward. 
 

Pl.34 Declarations of interest  
 
Councillor Johnston declared that he knew various public speakers due to speak in 
relation to items on the agenda.  He would not stand down on any items for this reason but 
would stand down, as ward member for Kennington and Radley, when item 8 was 
discussed. 
 
Councillor Mabbett, as a member of Wantage Town Council, made a statement that in 
relation to items 10 and 11 on the agenda he was not present when the applications were 
discussed at the Town Council’s Planning Committee so would partake in the debate and 
voting. 

Page 9



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 1 August 2018  Pl.2 

 
Councillor Hall made a statement that he knew Dr Chris Wilding, of Steventon Parish 
Council, but would partake in the debate and voting for item 6. 
 
Councillor Hannaby, as a member of Wantage Town Council, made a statement that in 
relation to items 10 and 11 on the agenda she was not present when the applications were 
discussed at the Town Council’s Planning Committee so would partake in the debate and 
voting. 
 

Pl.35 Urgent business  
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

Pl.36 Public participation  
 
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the 
meeting. 
 

Pl.37 P17/V1154/LB - Steventon Overbridge, High Street, Steventon  
 
The committee considered application P17/V1154/LB for the demolition of the Grade II 
listed Steventon Overbridge, High Street, Steventon and the provision of a replacement 
bridge. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.   
 
Dr Chris Wilding, a representative of Steventon Parish Council, spoke objecting to the 
application. 
 
Robert Green, a local resident spoke objecting to the application.  Julie Mabberley, on 
behalf of Francis G Sketch, was available for questions.  
 
Ian Wheaton of Network Rail Town Planning, Nick Preston of Network Rail Sponsorship 
and Al Byers, Network Rail Consents Manager, spoke in support of the application. 
 
Matthew Barber, ward member for Steventon and The Hanneys, spoke objecting to the 
application. 
 
In response to questions raised by the committee, the officers reported that:  

 Oxfordshire County Council have considered traffic diversions since Network Rail 
made this application if approval was given to demolish the bridge.  There was an 
informal agreement with Highways England to use the A34 as an alternative route.  
If the application was approved, the County Council would work closely with 
Highways England to ensure sufficient signposting of the diversion route and 
National Rail would be requested to host a public event to inform local residents 
and businesses. 

 No economic study had been carried out to consider the impact of the road closure 
if the bridge were to be demolished but this was not a material planning 
consideration. 

 The demolition would be in keeping with the Local Plan. 

Page 10



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 1 August 2018  Pl.3 

 A car park could be discussed as a condition on this application to mitigate the 
impact of the road diversion.  A car park was not originally a condition on this 
application as it was not material to listed building consent considerations; this 
would be an agreement between National Rail and Oxfordshire County Council 
Highways in discussion with local residents. The local planning authority cannot 
enforce this. 

 Richard Peets, from Historic England confirmed that the organisation did not object 
because it accepted the justification given by Network Rail to demolish the bridge. 

 
The officer advised the committee that if it were to refuse this application, it must be 
satisfied and provide material reasons that demolition of the bridge is not outweighed by 
the public benefit at a national level. 
 
The committee agreed that the bridge should be preserved and that its loss would not 
significantly improve infrastructure at a national level.  National Rail had not demonstrated 
that there are exceptional circumstances which justified the demolition, so paragraph 195 
of the National Planning Policy Framework would be contradicted.  Local residents and 
businesses would suffer due to road diversions and there was some concern that there 
had been a lack of public consultation.  The committee did not believe that the 
inconvenience of lowering the track outweighed the listed building nature of the bridge.  
Further, train delays at present had not drastically affected the current timetable, despite 
some members of the committee arguing that the bridge constrains the railway network.   
 
A motion, moved and seconded, to refuse listed building consent for the demolition of the 
Grade II listed overbridge at Steventon, was declared carried on being put to the vote.   
 

RESOLVED: to refuse application P17/V1154/LB for listed building consent for 
the demolition of the Grade II listed overbridge at Steventon for the following 
reasons: 
 

 The proposed demolition of the Grade II listed Steventon Overbridge is not 
outweighed by the needs of the national infrastructure project and the wider 
public and national benefit. 

 The proposal is contrary to paragraphs 193, 194 and 195 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and the relevant policies in the Local Plan. 

 

Pl.38 P18/V0692/RM - Steventon Road Nurseries, Steventon Road, East 
Hanney, Wantage  

 
The committee considered a reserved matters application P18/V0692/RM for the erection 
of 40 dwellings including appearance, landscaping, layout and scale at Steventon Road 
Nurseries, Steventon Road, East Hanney. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.   
 
Judy Long, a representative of East Hanney Parish Council, spoke objecting to the 
application. 
 
Nick Francis, the applicant’s architect, spoke in support of the application.   
 
In response to questions raised by the committee, the officers reported that: 

Page 11



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 1 August 2018  Pl.4 

 As a general rule, electric charging points could be added as a condition to 
reserved matters applications but only if it was justified to do so.  The officers 
advised against adding this as a condition to this particular application as this site is 
not in an Air Quality Management Area and technology was advancing so charging 
points might not be the way forward.  Further, the government had not yet 
confirmed whether this would be a planning or building control issue, so such a 
condition would be difficult to enforce. 

 
Officers confirmed that a condition would be added relating to slab levels and a note to the 
applicant expecting winter/spring groundwater monitoring to be undertaken prior to any 
details being submitted seeking approval of a surface water drainage scheme. The ground 
water monitoring needs to be used to inform the drainage scheme 

 
The committee agreed that this application was acceptable but that more consultation from 
developers with local residents was desirable at reserved matters stage. 
 
A motion, moved and seconded, that reserved matters be approved, was declared carried 
on being put to the vote.   
 
RESOLVED: that the reserved matters application P18/V0692/RM be approved 
subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Approved plans. 
2. Materials to be agreed before work above slab level. 
3. Landscaping implementation. 
4. Road surfacing prior to completion. 
5. Parking spaces to be provided before occupation. 
6. Boundary details to be submitted and approved - details implemented prior to 

occupation. 
7. Play area details to be approved and implemented. 
8. Bin collection points to be agreed. 
9. No street lighting. 
10. Garages to be retained. 
11. Working hours to be Monday to Friday 07:30 to 18:00 and 08:00 to 13:00 

Saturday.  No works on Sundays or public holidays. 
12. Slab levels to be agreed prior to commencement of development.  Note to the 

applicant: winter/spring ground water monitoring required and needs to be 
used to inform the surface water drainage scheme. 

 
The planning conditions and Section 106 agreement for the outline permission 
remain applicable. 
 

Pl.39 P18/V1179/CM - North of the A420 Botley Road to south of the 
A423 ring road  

 
The committee considered application P18/V1179/CM regarding an Environment Agency 
flood alleviation scheme to the north of the A420 Botley Road to the south of the A423 ring 
road to reduce flood risk in Oxford.  This application had been submitted to Oxfordshire 
County Council whearas this council was a consultee and its comments were being 
sought. 
 

Page 12



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 1 August 2018  Pl.5 

Councillor Johnston, as ward member for Kennington and Radley, stood down from the 
committee and took no part in the debate or voting for this item. 
 
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history were 
detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for this meeting.   
 
Officer updates since the publication of the agenda: 

 The revised National Planning Policy Framework published in July 2018 had 
resulted in an amendment to paragraph 5.9 of the report for this item.  The Green 
Belt paragraph should now read “paragraph 146” rather than “90”.  The purposes of 
Green Belt itself have not changed. 

 
Debbie Dance, Director of Oxford Preservation Trust, spoke in relation to the application.  
She did not object in principle but urged the committee to champion the rural nature of the 
area. 
 
Councillor Roger Cox, Leader of Vale of White Horse District Council, spoke in support of 
the application. 
 
Councillor Bob Johnston, ward member for Kennington and Radley, spoke in relation to 
this application. 
 
In response to questions raised by the committee, the officers reported that:  

 Suggestions raised by Councillor Johnston relating to the nature of the trees 
planted, such as the inclusion of Alder and Hazel Willow and small-leafed Lime 
trees and not Ash or Sycamore trees, would be considered when drafting the formal 
response. 

 The council could request to be notified and be a consultee when the developer 
notified Oxfordshire County Council of any unsuspected contamination encountered 
during the development. 

 The design of the Willow Walk and Devils Backbone bridges should be revisited to 
the reduce their engineered appearance and be more in keeping with the rural 
nature of the area.  

 
The committee had no objection in principle and raised minor suggestions to the officer’s 
recommended response as outlined in responses from officers. 
 
The officer confirmed that draft comments as set out in the report would be redrafted 
based on the suggestions from the committee.  This would then be sent to Councillor 
Roger Cox as Leader of the Council, Councillor Sandy Lovatt as Chairman of the Planning 
Committee and the relevant ward members for comment before being formally submitted 
to Oxfordshire County Council. 
 
RESOLVED: The committee agreed to formally submit the following comments to 
Oxfordshire County Council in response to the Environment Agency’s flood 
alleviation scheme (application P18/V1179/CM) following officer amendments in 
consultation with Councillor Roger Cox as Leader of the Council, Councillor Sandy 
Lovatt as Chairman of the Planning Committee and the relevant ward members.  
This response had been re-drafted based on suggestions made by the committee: 
 

1. This council has no objection in principle to a flood alleviation scheme to reduce 
flood risk in Oxford. 

Page 13



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 1 August 2018  Pl.6 

 
2. This council is concerned the proposals may have a negative impact on biodiversity 

and could have an adverse impact on Egrove Park Meadow Local Wildlife Site 
(LWS). The County Council should seek additional information to: 

 Clearly demonstrate that the overall result of the proposals can deliver a net 
gain for biodiversity. To do this the Environment Agency should use a 
Biodiversity Impact Calculator following the methodology developed by Defra 
as part of the Biodiversity Offsetting pilot scheme. 

 information should be provided for the area around Egrove Park Meadow 
LWS so that the conclusions in the Environmental Statement (ES) can be 
checked and verified 

 The landscaping scheme should not include: 
i.  ash trees (Fraxinus excelsior). This is not a species recommended for 

planting due to ash die-back disease 
ii. Sycamore trees (Acer pseudoplatanus), as it does not support much 

biodiversity compared to native trees and it is an invasive species 

 This council encourages the greater use of willow (Salix), alder (Alnus 
glutinosa), hazel (Corylus avellana) and small leaved lime (Tilia cordata) in 
the landscaping scheme. These trees are flood tolerant and beneficial to 
wildlife. Willow (Salix) will need to be well managed. 
 

3. A revised Heritage Impact Assessment should be submitted to assess: 

 The age and time layering of views. The heritage value of trees in the views 
needs to be clearly ascertained and a deeper understanding of views 
provided such that a reasoned assessment and proposal methodology can 
be followed. This would best be provided in a sequence of historic map 
overlays with views clearly marked and which should cover the JMW Turner 
views and those once perceived by John Ruskin and his followers in North 
Hinksey 

 Explain how the case for tree removal and re-planting and the position of 
new planting is arrived at with regard to the proposed planting of 9.7ha of 
new woodland to replace up to 398 individual trees or groups of trees 

 Research on the network of routes criss-crossing the proposal site should be 
carried out such that their significance nationally, regionally and locally can 
be better understood and more effective proposals made for their retention, 
enhancement and appreciation 
 

4. The Landscape and Visual Assessment reassesses the impact of the proposed 
scheme in views of North Hinksey Village and the area of land between Botley 
Road and Willow walk and also the proposed mitigation planting. This council is 
seeking to understand the impact of the scheme in views. Will tree removal impact 
in views by exposing existing buildings which may then detract from existing views 
to the village or Oxford’s spires? Will new planting once mature restrict current 
views of the village or Oxford’s spires? 
 

5. The proposed planting is revisited so it better reflects the local landscape character 
and screens existing development particularly that on Botley Road. This council 
would support the planting of willow (Salix), alder (Alnus glutinosa), hazel (Corylus 
avellana) and small leaved lime (Tilia cordata). This council does not support the 
planting of ash (Fraxinus excelsior) or sycamore (Acer pseudoplatanus). 

 

Page 14



Vale of White Horse District Council – Planning Committee Minutes 

Wednesday, 1 August 2018  Pl.7 

6. The design of the Willow Walk and Devils Backbone are revisited to reduce their 
engineered appearance by reducing their width, use of materials in keeping with the 
rural character of the area. If this is not possible the Environment Agency needs to 
provide full justification for the width and use of materials. 
 

7. Should the County Council be minded to approve the application the following 
planning conditions should be imposed to require: 

 A detailed landscaping scheme, its implementation, and maintenance 

 Alternative bridge designs and materials to be submitted and agreed for 
Willow Walk and the Devil’s Backbone crossings 

 Restrict working to 07:30-18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00-13:00 on a 
Saturday; and no work to take place on Sundays or Public Holidays 

 Require a Construction Environmental Management Plan to be agreed 

 Require a Construction Traffic Management Plan to be agreed 

 The developer to notify the County Council of the presence of any 
unsuspected contamination encountered during the development. In the 
event of any contamination to the land and/or water being encountered, no 
development shall continue until a programme of investigation and/or 
remedial works to include methods of monitoring and certification of such 
works undertaken has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority (in consultation with the Vale of White Horse District 
Council). 

 

Pl.40 P18/V0113/FUL - Land to the East of Portway Cottages, Reading 
Road, East Hendred, Wantage  

 
This application was deferred due to the meeting’s time limit having been reached prior to 
its consideration. It will be considered at a later date, to be confirmed. 
 

Pl.41 P18/V0847/HH - 36 Aldworth Avenue, Wantage  
 
This application was deferred due to the meeting’s time limit having been reached prior to 
its consideration. It will be considered at a later date, to be confirmed. 
 

Pl.42 P18/V1049/HH - Corbiere, Springfield Road, Wantage  
 
This application was deferred due to the meeting’ time limit having been reached prior to 
its consideration. It will be considered at a later date, to be confirmed. 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 8.57 pm 
 

Page 15



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P18/V0847/HH 
 SITE 36 Aldworth Avenue Wantage, OX12 7EJ 
 PARISH WANTAGE 
 PROPOSAL Proposed first floor side extension (as amended 

by plans received on the 23rd of May 2018) 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Charlotte Dickson 

St John Dickson 
 APPLICANT Mrs Amanda Harper 
 OFFICER Nathaniel Bamsey 
 

 
 RECOMMENDATION 
 It is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the 

following conditions: 
 
Standard conditions: 

1. Commencement within three years.  
2. Development to be built accordance with approved plans. 

 
Compliance conditions: 

3. Materials in accordance with approved form and drawings. 
 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application is referred to committee at the request of the ward member, 

Councillor St. John Dickson. 
 

1.2 The application site is in a well-established residential area in the north east of 
the town of Wantage. On the site is a detached two storey dwelling with two 
single storey extensions, a pitched roof extension to the side and a flat roofed 
extension to the rear. Neighbouring properties are located to the north (no.38) 
and south (no.34) of the application site. Both neighbours are also detached 
dwellings. The building line of the properties is staggered so the line of the 
main rear wall of the northern neighbour at no.38 is on a similar line to the 
front of the application dwelling. Vehicular access to the site is gained via 
Aldworth Avenue. 
 

1.3 This application seeks approval for the erection of a first-floor side extension 
and for the replacement of the flat roof on the rear extension with a mono-
pitched roof. The first floor extension will be constructed above the existing 
pitched roof side extension. The development will provide an en-suite 
bathroom for an existing first floor bedroom. The extension will be constructed 
with a hipped roof and will have a depth of 3.4 metres, a width of 2.9 metres 
and a ridge height of 6.2 metres. The height to the eaves will be 4.7 metres, 
which matches that on the original dwelling. The front elevation of the 
extension will be in line with the front elevation of the first floor of the dwelling. 
The pitched roof on the rear extension will increase the ridge height from 2.8 
metres to 3.6 metres alongside the original dwelling and 3.2 metres along the 

Page 16

Agenda Item 7

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V0847/HH


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

rest of its length.  
 

1.4 The brickwork and roof tiles of the extension will match those of the existing 
dwelling. The new pitched roof will use Marley-Eternit slate tiles. A UPVC first 
floor window will be inserted on the front elevation of the extension, matching 
those on the existing dwelling. 
  

1.5 A site location plan is provided below and the application plans are attached 
at Appendix 
1.

 
 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 A summary of comments is provided overleaf. Comments can be seen in full at 

www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk. 
 
 

Page 17

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

Wantage Town 
Council 
 

Objection 

 Overbearing 

 Unneighbourly  

Neighbour object 
(1)  
 

One objection has been received from a neighbouring 
property (No.38). The concerns raised can be 
summarised as: 
 
Objection  

 Too large 

 Unneighbourly 

 Ugly 

 Overwhelms the garden 

 Loss of light 
 

 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 P90/V6890 - Approved (20/02/1991) 

Erection of single storey extension to side and rear of existing dwelling. 
 
P78/V0191 - Approved (24/01/1979) 
New porch to replace existing. 
 

3.2 Pre-application History 
None. 

 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
4.1 Householder development does not fall within the defined scope for potential 

EIA development. 
 
5.0 
5.1 

MAIN ISSUES 
The main issues when considering this application are: 
 

1. Design, layout and visual amenity 
2. Residential amenity 
3. Traffic, parking and highway safety 

 
5.2 Design, layout and visual amenity 

The extension is considered to be a modest and subservient addition to the to 
the existing dwelling. The ridge height will be approximately 1m lower than that 
on the main dwelling, in line with the Design Guide. This, together with the 
staggered relationship between no.36 and no.38 ensures that there is no 
terracing effect arising from the development. 
 

5.3 The front of the house includes a ground floor projection, so that the ground 
floor front wall lies approximately 1.5m forward of the upper wall. In the original 
plans the “front” wall of the extension was in line with the ground floor of the 
house, but forward of the upper wall. Amended plans improved the appearance 
of the extension by lining the front wall with the upper front wall of the house, 
creating a more uniform appearance that is in-keeping with the character of the 
dwelling.   

Page 18

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P90/V6890
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P78/V0191


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

5.4 The replacement of the flat roof on the rear extension with a pitched roof is 
considered to improve the appearance of the existing extension. The use of 
slate style tiles that differ from those on the main dwelling is considered 
acceptable as they will not be visible from any public vantage points. 
 

5.5 Residential Amenity 
The original proposal, built up from the front elevation of the garage, was 
designed in order to comply with the ’40-degree rule’ from the Design Guide. 
The ’40-degree rule’ states that two storey extensions should not encroach 
beyond a 40 degree line taken from the edge of the nearest ground or first floor 
window of a habitable room of a 
neighbouring property. It was felt that, due to no.38 being much further forward 
than no.36 this design would have led to a loss of light to no.38’s garden in the 
afternoon/evening.  
 

5.6 Amendments pushed the extension back to be level with the upper front wall of 
the house and introduced a hipped roof. It is considered that this has reduced 
the potential harm from loss of light as it maintains a gap between the two 
properties and the low ridge height will mean significant loss of light is not 
caused. 
 

5.7 The amendments will mean that the extension would now contravene the ’40-
degree rule’. It is considered that this is less harmful in this case due to the 
relative positions of the houses which means that the majority of the original 
dwelling already contravenes this rule, albeit at an increased distance. 1.6 
metres of the extension would exceed the 40 degrees this rule at a distance of 
4 metres from the nearest first floor window of No 38. It is considered that the 
visual impact will not cause harm due to the distance to the extension from the 
window, the fact it is a small part of the extension that is in contravention of the 
rule, and the presence of the existing house in the current outlook.  
 

5.8 The short length of the extension coupled with its subservient height and 
hipped roof design means that the development will not over dominate 
neighbouring properties. There will be no overlooking from the development as 
the new first floor window faces towards the highway, away from neighbouring 
properties. The proposed mono-pitch roof to the rear of the first floor proposal 
will not cause harm through loss of light or dominance as it will result in a very 
small increase in height.  
 

5.9 Traffic, parking and highway safety 
The development does not change the number of bedrooms nor affect the 
current parking arrangements so there will be no harm to highway safety. 
 

5.10 CIL 
The proposed development results in less than 100m2 of new floorspace so is 
not liable for the Community Infrastructure Levy. 

 
6.0 CONCLUSION 
6.1 It is concluded that the proposal is acceptable in terms of its design and its 

impacts on highway safety. The impacts on residential amenity are not 

Page 19



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

considered to be significantly harmful so as to be unacceptable. The proposal is 
therefore considered to accord with the relevant policies of the development 
plan and with the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 
 The following planning policies and planning guidance have been taken into 

account: 
 

 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031, Part 1 Policies; 
 
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness 
 
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 Policies; 
 
DC5  -  Access 
DC9  -  The Impact of Development on Neighbouring Uses 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Planning Practice Guidance (March 2014) 
 
Design Guide (SPD adopted March 2015) 
 
Equality Act 2010 
The proposal has been assessed against section 149 of the Equality Act. It is 
considered that no recognised group will suffer discrimination as a result of the 
proposal. 
 
Human Rights Act 1998 
The proposal has been assessed in the context of Articles 1 and 8 of the Human 
Rights Act. The impact on individuals has been weighed in the balance against 
the public interest and it is considered that the recommendation is proportionate. 
 

 
Author: Nathaniel Bamsey 
Email: planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01235 422600 

Page 20



Appendix 1

Page 21



P
age 22



Page 23



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P18/V1049/HH 
 SITE Corbiere Springfield Road Wantage 

Oxfordshire, OX12 8EX 
 PARISH WANTAGE 
 PROPOSAL First floor extension to existing bungalow. 

Single storey extension to the front and rear. 
Remodelling of floor area. Demolish existing 
garage and conservatory areas. 

 WARD MEMBER(S) Charlotte Dickson 
St John Dickson 

 APPLICANT Joseph Chalmers 
 OFFICER Josh Sharp  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION  
To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions: 
 
Standard: 

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission. 
2. Approved plans. 

 
Prior to commencement: 

3. Slab level details submitted and agreed in writing.  
 
Prior to Occupation: 

4. Access and parking laid out in accordance with details previously  
5. approved. 

 
Compliance: 

6. Garage to be retained for parking. 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This application comes to committee at the request of the local councillor, 
St.John Dickson. Corbiere, a detached bungalow, is located within a residential 
development, on Springfield Road, to the south of Wantage. The locality is 
characterised by a varied array of dwelling types and plot sizes with staggered 
building lines a common theme. Neighbouring properties to Corbiere are 
located to the east, Redruthan, a detached two-storey dwelling, and to the 
west, Tenga, a 1½ storey bungalow. Highway access is gained to Springfield 
Road via an off-street driveway with a detached garage on-site. 

 
1.2 
 
 

The proposal has been amended during the application process from, originally, 
the conversion from the existing single storey bungalow to a two storey house, 
to what is now the conversion to a 1 ½ storey property. The proposal aims to 
raise the roof height by 1.1m, compared to the existing, by raising both the 
eaves and ridge heights. The existing angle of the roof pitch will be retained. 
The proposal seeks to add a single storey, dual pitch extension to the front 
elevation for the provision of an integral garage, and a single-storey flat roof 

Page 24

Agenda Item 8

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V1049/HH


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

rear-extension, spanning the rear elevation, to form a kitchen and dining area. 
The number of bedrooms increase by 1 with the resulting total being 4 
bedrooms. A site location plan is below and extracts from the application plans 
are attached at Appendix 1. 
 

 
 

2.0 
2.1 

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
The below is a summary of representations, which can be seen in full at 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
 

Wantage Town Council  Object to the application on the grounds of 
over development, over bearing nature, it is 
un-neighbourly and not in keeping with the 
street scene 

 
Neighbours – 2 
neighbouring households 
have objected on the 
following grounds: 

 Overlooking 

 Overshadowing and loss of light 

 Contrary to 40-degree rule 

 Not in keeping with street scene 

 Loss of property value (this is not a material 
planning consideration) 

 
 

 
3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 
 

P83/V0097/O - Approved (18/01/1984) 
Erection of a dwelling house and garage. (Site area 0.13 hects). 

Page 25

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P83/V0097/O


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

4.0 
4.1 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
The development is not one that requires an EIA 

 
5.0 
5.1 

MAIN ISSUES 
Officers consider the main issues to be as follows: - 

 The impact on neighbours 

 The impact of the development on the area 

 Parking 
 

5.2 The Impact on Neighbours 
The current relevant adopted development plan policy (Policy DC9 of the Local 
Plan 2011) sets out the following parameters: Development will not be 
permitted if it would unacceptably harm the amenities of neighbouring 
properties and the wider environment in terms of: i) loss of privacy, daylight or 
sunlight; ii) dominance or visual intrusion iii) noise or vibration iv) smell, dust, 
heat, gases, v) pollution, contamination vi) external lighting. The parameters 
relevant to this application are the potential loss of privacy through any 
overlooking the development will cause, any loss of daylight caused by the 
raised roof height of the development, and any damage the development will 
cause to neighbours’ outlook through visual intrusion. 
 

5.3 Officers consider the impact on neighbours has been mitigated through the 
amendments made to the plans. Corbiere benefits from being set back from the 
building line compared to neighbouring properties. Therefore, although Tenga 
has two dormer windows that face the site, the proposed raising of the roof is 
not in direct view from these side dormers. Officers have carefully assessed the 
impact and consider that any overshadowing will only occur in the early 
morning. This impact will leave adequate light provision for Tenga’s side 
dormer windows, and the net loss of light caused by the raising of the roof will 
not be harmful enough to warrant refusal. 
 

5.4 Moreover, the proposed demolition of the detached garage at the front of the 
site is likely to improve the outlook from Tenga as it is currently in close 
proximity to the boundary. Officers consider the cumulative effect of the 
development will result in an over-all improvement to outlook and light for this 
neighbour. 
 

5.5 There are no habitable room windows in the flank wall of Redruthen for which 
the proposed development can potentially cause any loss of light. The 
neighbour at Redruthen is concerned that the proposal will breach the 40-
degree rule from rear-facing windows. However, as explained in Design Guide 
principle DG104, the 40-degree rule applies to proposals for full-height two 
storey extensions, whereas the proposal in this case is for a 1 ½ storey 
building. Consequently, the 40-degree rule does not apply and the impact from 
loss of light is considered to be acceptable. The lack of side facing windows in 
the proposal means there will not be any harmful over-looking to affect 
neighbouring amenity. 
 

5.6 The proposal has been designed with privacy for the property and neighbours 
in mind. As the only windows proposed which will cause potential overlooking 

Page 26



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

of neighbouring properties are the rear dormers, overlooking will only take 
place into the rear curtilage of neighbouring properties, and at an angle. This is 
not deemed harmful enough to contravene policy DC9. The rear dormer 
windows also benefit from permitted development fall-back.  
 

5.7 The Impact of the Development on the Area 
The relevant policy to assess the proposals effect to the street scene is policy 
CP37 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1. The main considerations relevant to the 
application within this policy include that the development… i) responds 
positively to the site and its surroundings, cultural diversity and history, 
conserves and enhances historic character and reinforces local identity or 
establishes a distinct identity whilst not preventing innovative responses to 
context: and viii) is visually attractive and the scale, height, density, grain, 
massing, type, details and materials are appropriate for the site and 
surrounding area 
 

5.8 Officers consider there is sufficient screening provided by existing boundary 
vegetation to prevent any harmful effect on neighbours’ outlook. As Corbiere is 
situated between a two-storey house; Redruthen, and a 1 ½ storey bungalow in 
Tenga, the raised roof height will still allow the development to integrate from a 
visual perspective, and will not cause the property to appear dominating. This 
factor, combined with the staggered building line which results in Corbiere 
being set-back, allows the addition to appear less disruptive to the street 
scene, with a relatively moderate impact on the area.   
 

5.9 The proposed extension to the front elevation incorporating the car port is 
considered to be acceptable. As principles DG47 and DG107 of the design 
guide describe, front extensions will be viewed positively if they remain single-
storey with a pitched roof. As the front elevation of Corbiere is set back from 
the street, the extension will have less of an obtrusive visual effect on the street 
scene. The removal of the existing detached garage at the front means the net 
additional development will be relatively modest and will not detract from the 
existing character of the street scene. 
 

5.10 The roof is to be raised by 1.1m at the front elevation and by 1.25 at each other 
elevation compared to the existing height, which officers consider to be 
acceptable. Due to neighbour objections officers recommend the granting of 
this permission with a slab level condition to ensure the roof heights are built in 
accordance with the approved plans. As the proposal will change a single 
storey bungalow to a 1 ½ storey bungalow, it is considered the proposals do 
not harm the character of the original property. Instead the alterations allow the 
roof space to be incorporated into practical living space, matching other 
properties in the locality. The proposed rear dormers are discrete from the 
street and also benefit from permitted development fall back.  
 

5.11 
 
 
 
 

Parking 
The proposal will replace the existing detached garage on the west side of the 
plot with a new integral garage on the east side. The proposed garage meets 
the adopted standard (6m x 3m) in terms of its size. As the number of 
bedrooms is increasing to 4, the provision of two parking spaces is considered 

Page 27



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 
 
 
 
5.12 

to be acceptable, in the sustainable transport location of Wantage. Officers 
recommend conditions for details of access and parking, and to retain the 
garage for use for parking. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy Liability 
The council’s CIL charging schedule has recently been adopted and will apply 
to relevant proposals from 1st November 2017. CIL is a planning charge that 
local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the 
development of their area and is primarily calculated on the increase in 
footprint created as a result of the development or net gain of residential use on 
site.  This development would not be liable to pay CIL since the net internal 
increase in floor space does not exceed 100 square metres.   
 

6.0 
6.1 

CONCLUSION 
The development is not considered to be inappropriate development in 
Springfield Road and does not have a detrimental visual impact to the street 
scene. The proposal is not deemed to have sufficient impact on the amenities 
of neighbouring properties to warrant refusal.  
 
The following planning policies have been taken into account: 
 
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 policies: 
CP37 – Design and local distinctiveness  
 
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 policies: 
DC5 - Access 
DC9 – Impact on neighbouring amenities 
 
Design Guide (SPD Adopted March 2015), guidance: 
DG27- Urban Structure 
DG47 – On-plot parking 
DG64 – Privacy 
DG104 – Consider your neighbours 
DG107- Front extensions 
 
National Planning Policy Framework, 2012 
Paragraph 14: “The presumption in favour of sustainable development: For 
decision-taking this means approving development proposals that accord with 
the development plan without delay” 
 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 
Class B of Part 1 of Schedule 2 
 
Equalities Act, 2010 
In assessing the proposal officers have paid due regard to the local planning 
authority’s duties under section 149 of the Equalities Act. It is considered that 
no identified group will suffer discrimination as a result of the proposal. 
 
Human Rights Act 1998 
Officers have assessed the proposal in the context of Articles 1 and 8 of the 

Page 28



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

Human Rights Act. The impact on individuals has been weighed in the balance 
against the public interest, and officers consider the recommendation is 
proportionate. 
 
 
 Author:       Josh Sharp 
 Email:          josh.sharp@southandvale.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01235 422600 
 

Page 29

mailto:josh.sharp@southandvale.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 30



P
age 31



P
age 32



Page 33



Page 34



P
age 35



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 1 

 

 

 APPLICATION NO. P17/V2961/FUL 
 SITE Land south of Kennington, east of Kennington 

Road, Kennington, Oxford 
 PARISH KENNINGTON 
 PROPOSAL Hybrid application consisting of (a) Full planning 

application for the erection of 283 dwellings with 
two vehicular access points onto Kennington 
Road,  play area, public open space, 
attenuation basins and associated infrastructure 
and (b) Outline planning application for a 0.18ha 
site for community use (Class D1) building (as 
amended and amplified by drawings and 
information received 14 March, 17 May and 10 
July 2018). 

 WARD MEMBER(S) Edward Blagrove 
Bob Johnston 

 APPLICANT Redrow Homes 
 OFFICER Stuart Walker 

 

 
 RECOMMENDATION 
 It is recommended that authority to grant planning permission is 

delegated to the head of planning subject to:  
 

 A S106 legal agreement to secure financial contributions, affordable 
housing and open space provision. 

 The following planning conditions: 
 

 Standard 
1. Approved plans. 
2. Submission of reserved matters for community use land. 
3. Full time limit of commencement. 
4. Outline time limit of commencement. 
5. Materials in accordance with approved plans. 

 
Pre-commencement 

6. Kennington Road accesses and vision splay details to be 
constructed in accordance with approved plans. 

7. Construction traffic management plan. 
8. On-site foul and surface water dainage details. 
9. Suds details. 
10. Landscaping details. 
11. Staged programme of archaeological investigation in accordance 

with approved written scheme of investigation. 
 

Pre-occupation 
12. Roads and footpaths provided to each respective dwelling. 
13. Car parking in accordance with approved plans. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 9

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/V2961/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 2 

14. Updated travel plan statement. 
15. External lighting details (for bat species protection). 
16. Boundary details in accordance with appoved plans. 
17. Noise mitigation in accordance with noise assessment 

recommendations. 
18. Off-site foul drainage works prior to 50th occupation. 
19. Electric charging points to be provided for each market unit with a 

garage. 
 
Compliance 

20. Garage accommodation to be retained. 
21. Tree protection details. 
22. Landscape maintenance for five years. 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application was considered by committee on 18 June 2018 where it was 

resolved to defer the decision for further justification on the proposed market 
housing mix. All other matters were considered acceptable to the committee 
and a copy of the original report is attached at Appendix 1.  This report 
concentrates on the changes to the scheme since 18 June 2018. 
 

1.2 Following deferral, the applicant has amended the scheme to provide 11 x 1 
bed market dwellings required by SHMA that were absent in the original 
proposal.  The amended layout plan and plans of the 1 bed units are attached 
at Appendix 2. 
 

1.3 The application remains a hybrid proposal seeking (a) full planning permission 
for the erection of 283 dwellings with two vehicular access points onto 
Kennington Road, play area, public open space, balancing ponds and 
associated infrastructure and (b) outline planning permission for a 0.18ha site 
to be used for a community use (class D1) building. 

 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 A summary of the responses received to the latest amendments is below.  

Comments can be viewed in full online at www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk. 
 

Radley Parish 
Council 

Radley Parish Council withdraws its previous objection on the 
grounds of housing mix but continues to have other concerns we 
wish to be considered.  
  
Housing Mix  
We are pleased with the changes that have been made by the 
Developer to the mix of market housing, bringing it in line with the 
SHMA guidelines, but note that our own local research indicates 
that even more smaller homes are needed in the market sector. We 
hope that future planning decisions will respect the SHMA 
guidelines and take account of local evidence.   
  
Sewerage  
Since the last time this application came to committee we have 
made several attempts to contact Thames Water in relation to their 

Page 37

file://///athena2.southandvale.net/Images/Planning%20Applications/Vale/2015/P15V2447/Downloads/www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 3 

claim that capacity exists for 50 homes. Adam Peck of 
Development Services said that he had heard of this but couldn't 
remember who had come up with it and has subsequently been 
unable to provide details. Alice Kirkham from Redrow suggested we 
contact Huw Thomas, Local and Regional Government Liaison, but 
he has yet to even acknowledge receipt of our e-mail sent on 
4/7/18.  
  
We have also quizzed Redrow as to how they would ensure that no 
more than 50 homes were occupied before the upgrade was 
complete. They have merely stated that it would be up to the Vale 
enforcement team, and have been unable to cite a single example 
from their development portfolio where a similar condition has been 
successfully implemented.  We have copied most of this 
correspondence to Vale Officers.  
  
In the absence of any progress we continue to press for a 
Grampian condition that states:  
• first, that an agreement must be reached on upgrading the system 
before final permission is granted  
• and second, that the upgrade should be finished before any 
occupation of the site.  
 
Officer Response: It would be unreasonable to withhold or restrict 
planning permission on this basis.  The NPPG acknowledges that 
timescales for works to be carried out by the sewerage company do 
not always fit with development needs. In such cases, local 
planning authorities will want to consider how new development can 
be phased, for example so it is not occupied until any necessary 
improvements to public sewage treatment works have been carried 
out.  A Grampian Condition is included in the recommendation 
based on Thames Water’s recommendation. 
 
Sugworth Lane  
We continue to seek a response from the County Highways 
department to explore mitigation for Sugworth Lane, so far without 
success though it is still possible we may be able to get something 
before the Committee date. At a meeting on 7/6/17 to brief Parishes 
on the lodge hill slips County Highways Officers did refer to 
mitigation measures for Sugworth Lane being partly financed by the 
housing developments. This appears to indicate that the right hand 
of Highways does not know what the left is doing.  For this reason, 
Radley Parish Council continue to ask that an off-road footpath be 
provided at the east end of Sugworth Lane as part of the s106 
provision. 
Officer Response: Highways Officers have assessed this 
development on its merits and determined that impacts on 
Sugworth Lane are not considered to require mitigation. OCC state 
“whilst we agree a footpath along here would be of some benefit to 
the wider community, it is not something we could secure through 
the planning system”.   
 

Kennington 
Parish Council 

No objection, but wish the following comments to be taken in to 
account: 
 

Page 38



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 4 

The parish council continues to support Radley PC in relation to 
traffic calming measures on Sugworth Lane and the need for 
adequate sewerage. 
 

Neighbours 12 letters of objection have been received reiterating the following 
issues: 
 
Traffic, access locations and pedestrian crossings, condition of 
existing roads, Sugworth lane, green belt, infrastructure, cycle 
paths, school capacity, health care, loss of trees, drainage and 
impact on biodiversity / wildlife. 
 

Oxfordshire 
County Council 

Highways 

 No objection, subject to conditions. 
 

Thames Water No further response received. 
 

Drainage 
Engineer 

No objection, subject to conditions for detailed foul and surface 
water scheme. 
 

Network Rail Comment.  No drainage via their land.  Request trespass fencing is 
provided alongside railway land and additional cycle storage at 
Radley Station. 
 

Natural England No objection. 

Countryside 
Officer 

No objection. 

Landscape 
Officer 

No further response received. 
 

Tree Officer No further response received. 
 

Urban Design 
Officer 

No further response received. 

Environmental 
Health – Air 
Quality 

Nothing to add to earlier comments. 
 
 

Environmental 
Health – 
Contamination 

Nothing to add to earlier comments. 
 

Environmental 
Health – 
Protection 

No further observations. 

Waste 
Management 

No new comments. 

Housing 
Development 

No further response received. 

Leisure Team No further response received. 
 

 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

3.1 Pre-application 
P17/V1192/PEJ - (14/06/2017) 
Proposed development of 270 dwellings, retail floor space (A1) open space, 
play space and associated infrastructure at land south of Kennington 

Page 39

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/V1192/PEJ


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 5 

3.2 Planning Applications 
None 

 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

4.1 The site area is more than 5 hectares, and greater than 150 dwellings but is 
not in a ‘sensitive area’ as defined by the regulations.  The proposal is not 
EIA development. A negative screening opinion (application 
P16/V3126/SCR) was issued in December 2016. 

 
5.0 MAIN ISSUES 
5.1 The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this deferred 

application are: 

 Housing types and tenures 

 Technical matters 
 

5.2 Housing types and tenures 
Local Plan policy CP22 seeks to ensure the right mix of housing sizes, types 
and tenures are provided on all residential sites.  This should be in 
accordance with the Council’s strategic housing market assessment (SHMA) 
unless an alternative approach can be demonstrated to be more appropriate.  
The following table shows the amount of market housing originally proposed: 

 
 

 

 1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4+ bedrooms 

SHMA  5.9% 21.7% 42.6% 29.8% 

Expectation  11 40 78 55 

Proposal 0 43 73 68 
 

 
 
5.3 

 
Concern was raised by committee that the proposal does not provide enough 
small general market properties.  In response the applicant has amended the 
market housing to provide a mix that is strictly in compliance with Table 65 of 
the SHMA.  As a result, the proposal accords with local plan policy CP22. 
 

5.4 Technical matters 
Technical matters of Green Belt, Affordable housing, Design & Layout, 

Residential amenity, Landscape and visual impact, Open space, trees and 

landscaping, Flood risk and drainage, Traffic, parking and highway safety, 

Archaeology, Air quality, Contamination and Ecology & biodiversity, were 
assessed in detail in the original committee report and were considered 
acceptable (subject to relevant conditions).  The latest changes to the plans 
do not result in any material change to these matters, subject to relevant 
conditions being imposed.  Similarly, there is no change to the S106 
contributions set out in the previous report. 

 

6.0 CONCLUSION 

6.1 The application has been assessed on its merits, against the requirements of 
the adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1, saved policies of the adopted Local Plan 
2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework. Regard has been given to 
the draft Radley Neighbourhood plan but as this is yet to be adopted, it’s 
policies hold limited weight. The application site is included as a strategic 

Page 40



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 6 

housing allocation in the council’s adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1 to 
contribute towards the sustainable planned growth of the district. 
 

6.2 The application will provide an economic and social role through construction 
employment, increased investment in the local economy and providing 
additional market and the policy complaint 35% affordable housing. The 
application will make contributions towards local infrastructure, whether via 
S106 or through CIL. It would provide off-site highway mitigation in terms of 
traffic calming, new and improved cycle tracks and through a contribution 
towards the strategic highway infrastructure project of the Lodge Hill Slips. 
 

6.3 In terms of the environmental role, limited harm has been identified with 
respects to localised landscape impact and loss of habitats on the site. 
Mitigation in terms of biodiversity has been agreed to alleviate these impacts.  
Officers consider that the proposed benefits of the scheme as identified 
above outweigh the less than substantial harm in this case.  
 

6.4 There are no technical objections to the proposal, subject to appropriate 
conditions.  As such, it is concluded that the proposal is sustainable 
development that accords with the development plan and the application is 
recommended for approval. 

 
 Development Plan Policies 

The following planning policies have been taken in to account. 
 

 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031, part 1: 
CP01  -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
CP02  -  Cooperation on Unmet Housing Need for Oxfordshire 
CP03  -  Settlement Hierarchy 
CP04  -  Meeting Our Housing Needs 
CP07  -  Providing Supporting Infrastructure and Services 
CP08  -  Spatial Strategy for Abingdon-on-Thames and Oxford Fringe Sub-
Area 
CP22  -  Housing Mix 
CP23  -  Housing Density 
CP24  -  Affordable Housing 
CP26  -  Accommodating Current and Future Needs of the Ageing Population 
CP33  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
CP35  -  Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking 
CP36  -  Electronic communications 
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness 
CP38  -  Design Strategies for Strategic and Major Development Sites 
CP39  -  The Historic Environment 
CP40  -  Sustainable Design and Construction 
CP42  -  Flood Risk 
CP43  -  Natural Resources 
CP44  -  Landscape 
CP45  -  Green Infrastructure 
CP46  -  Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity 
CP47  -  Delivery and Contingency 

Page 41



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 7 

 
Saved policies of Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011: 
CF2  -  Provision of New Community Services and Facilities 
DC3  -  Design against crime 
DC4  -  Public Art 
DC5  -  Access 
DC6  -  Landscaping 
DC7  -  Waste Collection and Recycling 
DC9  -  The Impact of Development on Neighbouring Uses 
DC10  -  The Effect of Neighbouring or Previous Uses on New Development 
DC12  -  Water Quality and Resources 
DC20  -  External Lighting 
H23  -  Open Space in New Housing Development 
HE9  -  Archaeology 
HE10  -  Archaeology 
HE11  -  Archaeology 
L10  -  Safeguarding and Improving Public Rights of Way 
TR5  -  The National Cycle Network 
 

 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031, part 2: 
A publication draft of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 has 
been subject to public consultation and is currently at Examination.  Its 
policies are a material consideration although full weight cannot be given to 
them at present.  The following policies are material to the consideration of 
this application: 
 
DP2 - Space Standards 
DP8 - Community Services and Facilities 
DP11 - Community Employment Plans 
DP16 - Access 
DP17 - Transport Assessments and Travel Plans 
DP20 - Public Art 
DP21 - External Lighting 
DP23 - Impact of Development on Amenity 
DP24 - Effect of Neighbouring or Previous Uses on New Developments 
DP25 - Noise Pollution 
DP26 - Air Quality 
DP27 - Land Affected By Contamination 
DP28 - Waste Collection and Recycling 
DP31 - Protection of Public Rights of Way, National Trails and Open Access 
Areas 
DP33 - Open Space 
DP34 - Leisure and Sports Facilities 
DP36 - Heritage Assets 
DP39 - Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments 
 

 Neighbourhood Plan Policies: 
A submission draft of the Radley Neighbourhood Plan was examined on 21 
May 2018.  The examiner has recommended modifications and the council is 
now considering each of the examiner's recommendations, before making the 

Page 42



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 8 

final decision on whether the plan should proceed to a referendum.  Further 
work is also required on the habitat regulations assessment that supports the 
plan to demonstrate legal compliance.  For the purposes of this application, 
only limited weight can be given to the neighbourhood plan at present.  The 
following policies are material to the consideration of this application: 
 
PP4 - Housing Mix and Type at Largescale Sites 
PP7 - Facilities on South Kennington Housing Site 
PP9 - Primary Healthcare 
PP11 - Roads 
PP12 - Cycling & Walking 
PP13 - Connectivity 
PP14 - Radley Station 
PP15 - Surface Drainage 
PP16 - Sewerage 
PP17 - Historic Environment 
 

 Adopted guidance 
Vale of White Horse Design Guide SPD – March 2015 
Developer Contributions SPD – June 2017 
 

 Other Relevant Legislation and Guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990  
Community & Infrastructure Levy Legislation 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
Obligations under Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 
Provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006  
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
Localism Act (including New Homes Bonus) 

 
Author:          Stuart Walker 
Contact No:   01235 422600 
Email:            planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
 

Page 43

mailto:planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

APPLICATION NO. P17/V2961/FUL 

SITE Land south of Kennington East of 
Kennington Road Kennington Oxford

PARISH RADLEY
PROPOSAL Hybrid application consisting of (a) Full 

planning application for the erection of 
283 dwellings with two vehicular access 
points onto Kennington Road,  play area, 
public open space, attenuation basins 
and associated infrastructure and (b) 
Outline planning application for a 0.18ha 
site for community use (Class D1) (as 
amended and amplified by drawings and 
information received 14 March and 17 
May 2018). 

WARD MEMBER(S) Edward Blagrove 
Bob Johnston

APPLICANT Redrow Homes 
OFFICER Stuart Walker

RECOMMENDATION 
It is recommended that authority to grant planning permission is 
delegated to the head of planning subject to:  

 A S106 legal agreement to secure financial contributions, affordable
housing and open space provision.

 The following planning conditions:

Standard 
1. Approved Plans
2. Submission of Reserved Matters for community use land
3. Full Time limit of commencement
4. Outline Time limit of commencement
5. Materials in accordance with approved plans

Pre-commencement 
6. Kennington Road accesses and vision splay details to be

constructed in accordance with approved plans
7. Construction traffic management plan
8. On-site foul and surface water dainage details
9. Suds details
10. Landscaping details 
11. Staged programme of archaeological investigation in accordance

with approved Written Scheme of Investigation

Appendix 1

Page 44



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

Pre-occupation 
12. Roads and footpaths provided to each respective dwelling
13. Car parking in accordance with approved plans
14. Updated Travel Plan statement
15. External lighting details (for bat species protection)
16. Boundary details in accordance with appoved plans
17. Noise mitigation in accordance with noise assessment

recommendations
18. Off-site foul drainage works
19. Electric charging points to be provided for each market unit with a

garage

Compliance 
20. Garage accommodation to be retained
21. Tree protection details
22. Landscape maintenance for five years

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
1.1 This application is referred to committee as Radley Parish Council objects to 

the proposal. 

1.2 The application is a hybrid proposal seeking (a) full planning permission for the 
erection of 283 dwellings with two vehicular access points onto Kennington 
Road, play area, public open space, balancing ponds and associated 
infrastructure and (b) outline planning permission for a 0.18ha site to be used 
for community use (class D1). 

1.3 The site falls within Radley Parish but is adjacent to the settlement of 
Kennington.  It is allocated in the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031, part 1 
for around 270 dwellings.  The site lies outside the Oxford Green Belt and the 
North Corallian Ridge landscape.  It measures approximately 10.79 hectares, 
comprising of a single field bisected by a Public Right of Way (PRoW).  A site 
location plan is below: 

Page 45



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

1.4 The application has been amended to address technical officer comments on 
layout / design and local representations made on the original submission, 
which has resulted in a revised layout, changes to dwelling types, the 
reduction of 5 units and the replacement of land reserved for retail use with 
land for community use.  A copy of the latest layout plan and indicative street 
scenes is attached at Appendix 1.

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
2.1 A summary of the responses received to both the original plans and the 

amendments is below.  Comments made can be viewed in full online at 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk. 

Radley Parish 
Council 

Amended Plans 2 
No further response received at the time of writing this report. 

Amended Plans 1 
Objection. A copy of their comments is attached at Appendix 
2. 

Original Plans

Page 46



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

Objection, raising the following issues: 
 Housing numbers above plan allocation.
 Housing mix.
 Lack of older person accommodation.
 Impact on sewer network.
 Lack of cycle track to Radley Station.
 Inadequate Transport assessment.
 Lack of mitigation for Sugworth Lane.
 Inadequate parking provision.
 Improvements to Radley station - additional cycle

parking is required.
 Any biodiversity offsetting should go towards Radley

Lakes.
 Electric Charging point provision.
 Priorities for CIL spending towards new nursery

provision at St Swithun's School, improvements to the
Playfield Rd Sports Pavilion, new or expanded primary
health facilities, and investment in an on-site
community room (if not covered by s. 106).

Kennington 
Parish Council 

Amended Plans 2 
No further response received at the time of writing this report. 

Amended Plans 1 
No strong views. 

Original Plans 
No objection, but make comments on the requirement for 
upgrading the sewer network; management of construction 
traffic; repair of existing roads; provision of cycle route to 
Radley station; contributions for bus services, sports pavilion, 
community building (on site); query level of parking provision, 
Kennington Road vehicle access positions and lack of traffic 
calming for Sugworth Lane. 

Neighbours Amended Plans 2 
14 letters of objection have been received. The additional 
concerns raised are summarised as follows: 

 Amended plans do not overcome concerns on traffic
generation, impact on infrastructure, housing numbers
and mix.

 Infrastructure should be provided before
commencement of construction.

 Poor state of existing road network – roads should be
repaired before construction starts.

 Construction traffic plan is required.
 Cumulative traffic impact has not been considered.

Page 47



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

Amended Plans 1 
28 letters of objection and 2 letters of comment have been 
received. The additional concerns raised are summarised as 
follows: 

 Amended plans do not overcome concerns on traffic
generation, site access, impact on existing roads, loss
of green belt, flood risk and sewer network.

 Infrastructure needs to be improved first.
 More smaller units are required.
 Plans still provide too many dwellings than the local

plan proposes.
 Sugworth Lane traffic calming is required.
 The proposed cycle route on Kennington Road will

impact occupants of Park Farm Cottages – a route on
the western side would be preferable.

 Footpath link to Sandford Lane is not considered safe
and will have an adverse impact on the woodland.

 Traffic assessment is inadequate.
 CIL contributions must be used for health facilities.

Original plans 
68 letters of objection and 14 letters of comment were 
received. The concerns raised are summarised as follows: 

Policy  
 The proposal is contrary to the local plan.
 Too many dwellings are proposed.
 Loss of important rural open space / countryside.
 Loss of Green Belt land.
 Proposal does not take account of potential route of

the Cambridge expressway.
 Site was allocated based on old housing figures and

can no longer be justified.  It should be reassessed
based on any change to numbers.

 Cumulative impact with other site allocations has not
been adequately considered.

Highways 
 Traffic generation will lead to congestion.
 Highway safety from increased movements,

particularly for existing cycle users.
 Location of proposed southern vehicle access is

unsafe and should be directly opposite Sugworth
Lane.

 Proposed southern access should be designed as a
roundabout.

 Existing road network is poorly maintained and is not
suitable for increase in traffic and will lead to a severe
impact.

Page 48



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

 Wider road network improvements are required.
 Cycle path network improvements are required.
 Missed opportunity to re-route Sustrans through site.
 Cycle path to Radley station is required.
 The Transport Assessment is inadequate - there is no

consideration of the traffic impact on Sugworth Lane.
 Traffic calming measures are in wrong location.
 Traffic regulation order preventing parking on

Kennington Road is required.
 Pedestrian crossing at north junction is unsafe.
 Inadequate parking provision, particularly visitor

parking.
Design 

 Density is too high.
 Proposal will change character of the village.
 Housing mix does not provide enough smaller

dwellings or homes for all ages.
 Housing mix does not meet local / parish need.
 Housing mix does not meet Oxford SHMA mix / need.
 No bungalows are proposed.
 House sizes are too small.
 Affordable housing should have a higher proportion of

shared ownership.
 No social rented units are being provided.
 Position of shop will create noise disturbance / traffic

problems and should be located to the north of the site
(the retail use is no longer part of this proposal)

 Site phasing has not been disclosed.
 No on-site renewables are proposed.

Drainage 
 Inadequate sewer network.
 Flood risk.

Amenity 
 Public open space is too small – no land for informal

football kickabout / goal enclosure
 A Community room / hall is required.
 Construction traffic management is required.
 There is a lack of trees on the site to mitigate noise.
 Covenants on boats, caravans and HMO need to be in

place to protect amenity of existing residents.
Environment 

 Loss of agricultural land.
 Loss of wildlife and impact on protected species (bats /

badgers / owls).
 Footpath link to Sandford Lane through copse will

adversely impact trees.
 There is contaminated land (former landfill) nearby.
 Potential impact on air quality from traffic congestion.

Page 49



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

 Potential impact on future residents from increase in 
rail traffic. 

Infrastructure 
 Impact on local services, in particular the primary 

school, nursery, Kennington Health Centre, bus 
services and local water supply. 

 Existing road / cycle network has no capacity for 
additional traffic. 

 Proposal should not be approved until Lodge Hill slips 
are completed. 

 
Oxfordshire 
County Council 

Amended Plans 2 
Highways 

 No objection, subject to: 
- Conditions on access, parking, cycle infrastructure. 
- Contributions towards off site highway works, 

public transport, cycle infrastructure, public rights 
of way and travel plans. 

Archaeology 
 No objection, subject to condition on a staged 

programme of investigation. 
 
Amended Plans 1 
Highways 

 Objection based on additional information required for 
assessment. 

 
Original Plans 
Highways 

 Objection based on design issues and additional 
information required for assessment. 

Archaeology 
 No objection, subject to conditions on scheme of 

investigation and evaluation. 
Education 

 No objection - OCC will seek funding from Community 
Infrastructure Levy receipts for the education 
infrastructure projects required to mitigate the impact 
of the proposed development. 

 
Thames Water No objection, but identify an inability of the existing waste 

water infrastructure to accommodate the development. 
Propose a Grampian condition requiring identified offsite 
drainage works to be implemented prior to occupation. 
 

Drainage 
Engineer 

No objection, subject to conditions for detailed foul and 
surface water scheme. 
 

Page 50



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

SSE Comment.  Draw attention to the location of High Voltage 
lines through the site. 
 

Network Rail Comment.  No drainage via their land.  Request trespass 
fencing is provided alongside railway land and additional 
cycle storage at Radley Station. 
 

Cycle UK Original Plans 
Objection.  Proposal falls short of LTP4 requirements; the 
informal cycle crossing on Kennington Road is a poor link. 
Require a signalised crossing on Kennington Road; a traffic 
island on the southern access; a raised cycle path across 
Sugworth Lane Junction; revised approach to Sanford Lane 
crossing so cyclists do not have to dismount; and revised 
‘give way’ signage on cycle routes to replace ‘end’ of route 
signage at Sugworth Lane junction, Kennington Road 
crossing and the junction with Sandford Lane. 
 

SUSTRANS Original Plans 
Objection. Proposal fails to provide high quality cycle route 
through the development site and a route to Radley Station. 
 

Oxford 
Preservation 
Trust 

Original Plans 
Objection on the following grounds: 

 Effect on Oxford Green Belt. 
 Cumulative traffic impact. 
 Proposal should confirm to garden town principles. 
 Dedicated cycle route to Oxford / Abingdon and 

improvement of Sustrans route is required. 
 

Natural 
England 

No objection. 

Countryside 
Officer 

Amended plans 2 
 No new comment. 

Amended plans 1 
 No objection, subject to contribution for biodiversity 

offsetting.  
 The applicant has submitted a Biodiversity Impact 

Calculation (BIC) based on the detailed landscape 
drawings. The results of the BIC have shown that 
the proposals will result in a net loss of biodiversity 
on site in the region of 5 biodiversity units when 
compared to the existing site conditions. 

Original Plans 
 Holding objection – Further information is required 

from the applicant to clearly demonstrate using 
biodiversity impact calculations that the proposals 
can avoid a net loss of biodiversity in accordance 
with CP46. This is also likely to require 
amendments to the landscaping scheme. 

Page 51



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

Landscape 
Officer 

Amended plans 2 
 No objection, subject to landscaping condition.

Amended plans 1 
 Holding objection – clarification required on

- accessibility of open space / gradients 
- foul water easement with regards to planting 
- garden levels 
- boundary treatment to south west corner 
- tree pit details 

Original Plans 
 Holding objection – revisions required on

- open space 
- planting proposals 
- swale design 
- LEAP 
- Levels 
- Boundary treatment 

Tree Officer No objection, subject to condition for implementation of 
identified tree protection measures. 

Urban Design 
Officer 

No objection. 

Environmental 
Health – Air 
Quality 

No objection, but request mitigation measures - electric 
charging points for each property with a garage & travel plan. 

Environmental 
Health – 
Contamination 

No objection. 

Environmental 
Health – 
Protection 

No objection, subject to implementation of railway line noise 
mitigation. 

Waste 
Management 

Amended plans 2 
 No new comment.

Amended plans 1 
 No objection, subject to contributions.

Original Plans 
 Holding objection – revisions and tracking

information required.

Housing 
Development 

No objection. 

Leisure Team No objection.  Proposal falls under CIL contributions. 

Oxford Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 

OCCG is seeking £278,532 to ensure that health 
infrastructure can be put in place to support the growth in 
population.

Page 52



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
3.1 Pre-application 

P17/V1192/PEJ - (14/06/2017) 
Proposed development of 270 dwellings, retail floor space (A1) open space, 
play space and associated infrastructure at land south of Kennington 

3.2 Planning Application 
None 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
4.1 The site area is more than 5 hectares, and greater than 150 dwellings but is not 

in a ‘sensitive area’ as defined by the regulations.  The proposal is not EIA 
development. A negative screening opinion (application P16/V3126/SCR) was 
issued in December 2016.

5.0 MAIN ISSUES 
5.1 The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application 

are: 
 Principle of development
 Green Belt
 Amount of housing
 Housing types and tenures
 Affordable housing
 Design & Layout
 Residential amenity
 Landscape and visual impact
 Open space, trees and landscaping
 Flood risk and drainage
 Traffic, parking and highway safety
 Archaeology
 Air quality
 Contamination
 Ecology & biodiversity
 CIL & S106 contributions

5.2 Principle of development 
The site is allocated in the adopted local plan as a site suitable for around 270 
dwellings.  The principle of development is therefore acceptable unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 

5.3 Green Belt 
Objections have been raised over the loss of Green Belt land arising from this 
proposal.  As part of the evidence base to support the adopted local plan, the 
council undertook a Green Belt review. This review recommended the removal 
of the site from the Oxford Green Belt to facilitate the delivery of housing.  As 

Page 53



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

the site is now allocated and no longer lies within the Oxford Green Belt, 
officers consider there is no ground to withhold permission on this issue. 
 

5.4 Amount of Housing 
Objections have been raised that the amount of housing exceeds that 
envisaged by the adopted local plan. Policy CP4 of the local plan allocates the 
site for around 270 dwellings.  Housing allocation figures are only approximate 
as the final figure will always depend on the more detailed information and 
assessment that is entailed with a full planning application. 
 

5.5 In meeting our housing needs, there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development within the existing built area of larger villages under local plan 
policy CP4.  The government also expects housing supply to be significantly 
boosted.  As set out below, 283 units have been assessed against all relevant 
planning considerations and no technical objections have been raised.  
Therefore, officers consider an increase of 13 dwellings on the approximate 
number of 270 is reasonable and does not result in a significantly different 
scheme to that outlined in the Local Plan. 
 

5.6 Housing types and tenures 
Local Plan policy CP22 seeks to ensure the right mix of housing sizes, types 
and tenures are provided on all residential sites.  This should be in accordance 
with the Council’s strategic housing market assessment (SHMA) unless an 
alternative approach can be demonstrated to be more appropriate.  The 
following table shows the amount of market housing proposed: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4+ bedrooms
SHMA  5.9% 21.7% 42.6% 29.8% 
Expectation 11 40 78 55 
Proposal 0 43 73 68 

 

 
5.7 

 
Concern has been raised that the proposal does not provide enough small 
general market properties. The SHMA contains estimated figures. Paragraph 
7.35 of the SHMA states: “…we do not strongly believe that such prescriptive 
figures should be included in the plan making process and that the “market” is 
to some degree a better judge of what is the most appropriate profile of homes 
to deliver at any point in time.”  Officers consider the proposal strikes the right 
balance for a mix of market housing across the site and accords with the ambit 
of local plan policy CP22. 
 

5.8 Affordable housing 
The application makes provision for 35% affordable housing which accords 
with local plan policy CP24.  The proposed affordable housing mix is: 
 
 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed Total
Rent 6 40 26 2 74 
Shared 
Ownership

2 14 9 - 25 

Total 8 54 35 2 99 

Page 54



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

The distribution of the affordable units throughout the development is 
acceptable and the council’s housing team are satisfied with the proposal.  This 
will be secured through the S106 legal agreement. 

5.9 Design and Layout 
Following concerns over the initial proposal in terms of design and layout, the 
scheme has been amended.  The layout is based around a clearly defined 
network of informal streets and dwellings have been designed / positioned to 
front public space to provide a coherent environment for all users and a sense 
of enclosure.  There is a mix of dwelling types, and the design, in terms of 
heights, mass and external appearance are reflective of an arts and craft style.  
There is a mix of on street parking, on plot parking and garaging, together with 
private amenity space and bin storage provision for each dwelling.  Overall, the 
proposal is considered compliant with the adopted design guide and local plan 
policy CP37. 

5.10 Residential Amenity 
The application proposes an appropriate design response to both new and 
existing dwellings in terms of amenity.  Officers consider any impact on existing 
neighbours is not sufficient to warrant refusal of the application. 

5.11 Noise generated from the adjoining railway line is apparent on the east part of 
the site.  The applicant has provided a noise impact assessment and in 
response to its findings, mitigation for plots 42 and 57-67 is proposed to ensue 
no unreasonable impact on future residents.  The environmental protection 
team raises no objection, subject to implementation of the proposed mitigation.  
This can be secured by condition and the proposal accords with local plan 
saved policies DC9 and DC10. 

5.12 Landscape and Visual Impact 
The applicant has provided a landscape and visual assessment to support the 
proposal.  The assessment concludes that “the site and proposed development 
will be visible from a localised area only and where it will be seen, the highest 
degree of adverse effects is limited to views on, or immediately adjacent, to the 
site only”.  It further considers that “the potential landscape and visual effects 
are not likely to be significant and the proposed development is considered 
acceptable in landscape and visual terms”.  Officers consider the assessment 
is acceptable and agree with the conclusions. As such the proposed 
development would not cause unacceptable landscape and visual harm and 
there is no conflict with local plan policy CP44. 

5.13 Open Space, Trees and Landscaping 
Local plan saved policy H23 requires a minimum of 15% of a site to be laid out 
as open space.  The application proposes an area of public open space with a 
LEAP, safeguarded land for community use, supplemented by informal open 
space around the edges of the development.  In addition, each dwelling has 
private amenity space.  The proposal is acceptable and accords with policy 
H23. 

Page 55



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

 
5.14 The application is accompanied by a suite of arboricultural information.  The 

tree officer is broadly satisfied that the consideration of existing trees has 
informed the design of the latest layout and that its implementation would not 
have a significant impact on existing trees, subject to the impact being 
managed by means of the submitted tree protection plan.  This can be secured 
by condition. 
 

5.15 The application is supported with a concept landscape plan and the proposed 
layout has sufficient space to deliver a well landscaped scheme to accord with 
local plan saved policy DC6.  The council’s landscape officer raises no 
objection subject to minor revisions / submission of further landscape details 
which is secured through the recommended conditions. 
 

5.16 Flood Risk and drainage 
The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment.  The site is within 
flood zone 1 which is the zone least susceptible to flooding and preferred in 
flood risk terms for housing development.  The site is not at risk of river 
flooding.  A sustainable drainage scheme can be agreed and secured by 
planning condition thereby minimising the risks of flooding arising from the 
development. The drainage engineer has no objections to the proposal subject 
to further details being submitted by condition. 
 

5.17 Concern has been raised on foul sewer capacity.  Thames Water has identified 
a network capacity issue with the foul sewer network and are currently working 
with the applicant to identify and deliver the off-site waste water infrastructure 
needed to serve the development.  Thames Water have identified that some 
capacity exists within the foul water network to serve 50 dwellings, but beyond 
that upgrades to the foul network will be required. Works are ongoing to 
understand this in more detail and as such Thames Water request an 
appropriately worded Grampian condition to be attached to any approval to 
ensure development doesn’t outpace the delivery of essential infrastructure.  
Officers consider this is a reasonable and necessary condition. 
 

5.18 Subject to the suggested drainage conditions, the proposal is acceptable in 
respect of flood risk and drainage and accords with local plan policy CP42. 
 

5.19 Traffic, parking and highway safety 
Traffic, highway safety and pedestrian/cycle connectivity have all been raised 
as particular issues by residents and the parish councils. The application is 
supported by a Transport Assessment (TA), an addendum and supporting 
technical note. 
 

5.20 The local highway authority has reviewed all information submitted and raise 
no objections on highway grounds, subject to conditions and off-site mitigation. 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

5.21 Access 
The site will be accessed directly off the Kennington Road via two new T 
junctions.  Following submission of further technical information, these are 
acceptable to the highway authority. 
 

5.22 Traffic generation and impact 
Local concern has been expressed that the proposal would cause traffic 
congestion especially due to the level of traffic using the road from Abingdon.  
However, there are no objections to the proposal from the highway authority on 
traffic generation or highway safety grounds.  Officers consider, subject to the 
mitigation outlined below, it would be unreasonable to withhold permission on 
such grounds. 
 

5.23 Traffic Calming measures 
The main vehicular route through Kennington via The Avenue and Kennington 
Road is traffic calmed (speed cushions) between the junctions of Upper Road / 
Kennington Road and Sandford Lane / The Avenue. The development site is 
located beyond this existing traffic calming scheme, and to ensure vehicles 
speeds past the development site up to Sugworth Lane are also controlled, the 
highway authority require the existing traffic calming scheme to be extended up 
to the junction of Sugworth Lane / Kennington Road.  This is considered 
acceptable. 
 

5.24 Residents have also requested that a roundabout is created with Sugworth 
Lane to slow traffic and enable traffic to merge onto Abingdon Road.  In 
addition, the parish councils seek traffic calming measures on Sugworth Lane.  
The highway authority has confirmed neither a roundabout nor Sugworth Lane 
traffic calming is required to mitigate traffic speeds or traffic generation from 
this development. 
 

5.25 Lodge Hill South Facing Slips Scheme 
The highway authority confirms the strategic highway network for Abingdon 
does not currently have capacity to accommodate this site, or the three other 
strategic housing sites to come forward in Abingdon and Radley.  Therefore, 
the key piece of strategic infrastructure necessary to mitigate these 
developments is the A34 Lodge Hill South Facing Slips. The slips would create 
a redistribution of traffic, freeing up capacity in Abingdon for traffic from this 
site.  It is therefore necessary for this site to make contributions of £3,500 per 
dwelling (index linked) towards the Lodge Hill Slips to mitigate the impact of 
traffic on the Abingdon network. 
 

5.26 The highway authority has confirmed that a ‘Grampian’ condition requiring the 
slips to be in place before any development on site is not required. The Ministry 
for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHDCLG) has recently 
confirmed to the county council that the funding shortfall for Lodge Hill South 
Facing Slips will be provided to unlock growth in this area. Due to recent 
experience of successfully delivering a similar scheme (A34 Chilton North 
Facing Slips), the county council is confident of delivering this scheme by the 
end of 2020 and is providing forward funding to secure this.  Based on the 
current programmes associated with Lodge Hill Slips and housing delivery, it is 

Page 57



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

expected the slips will be open for public use before this development site is 
fully built out and occupied. 

5.27 Off-site cycle provision  
As part of the development site’s highway mitigation package, the applicant 
has agreed footway / cycleway improvements to be undertaken on the eastern 
side of Kennington Road to connect the development with the wider footway / 
cycle network and provide sustainable transport modes to access the site. 
These cycle improvement works are considered deliverable as this route can 
be provided within land classed as public highway via S278 works. 

5.28 The highway authority also seeks to secure a second cycle route between 
Radley and Kennington to provide cyclists and pedestrians with a choice of 
suitable, direct and safe routes for both villages and for onwards journeys 
between Abingdon and Oxford. Radley Parish Council support this, and 
provision is also made in the draft neighbourhood plan for enhanced cycling 
and walking connections. 

5.29 In response, it has been agreed with the applicant to safeguard a section of 
land that is in their ownership / control to the south of the site, alongside the 
west of the railway line. This safeguarding and dedication of the land to the 
county council would allow the county council to deliver the alternative route, 
once the remainder of land alongside the railway is also secured.  An indicative 
plan has been provided showing the section of land to be safeguarded and 
dedicated, which would be 5m in width. The safeguarding period for this route 
is to be 10 years from when the S106 legal agreement is completed.  Officers 
consider that the scheme would provide sufficient cycle connections which 
would significantly contribute to a well-connected and integrated development 
and promote sustainable forms of transport in the wider locality. 

5.30 Parking provision  
The amount and type of parking provision across the site is acceptable.  
Officers consider there is sufficient parking provision to meet the needs of the 
development. 

5.31 Construction traffic  
The parish councils and highway authority have requested a condition to 
secure the submission of a construction traffic management plan. This would 
include such information as routing of construction and delivery vehicles to and 
from the site and delivery times which must be outside network peak and 
school peak hours. This condition is recommended. 

5.32 Overall, it is considered that the proposal is acceptable in terms of its 
implications for traffic, parking and highway safety, subject to conditions and 
contributions.  The application therefore accords with the expectations of saved 
policy DC5 and the NPPF. 

5.33 Archaeology 
The applicant has submitted an archaeological desk based assessment and 
has undertaken both a geophysical survey and archaeological field evaluation 

Page 58



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

of the application site.  These have revealed the presence of archaeological 
features dating to the Romano British period and represent a small settlement 
of that period.  The applicant has submitted a written scheme of investigation 
(WSI) for archaeological mitigation to be undertaken. The County Archaeologist 
confirms the WSI is acceptable and should be included in any permission given 
as an approved document.  The mitigation can be secured through condition. 
The proposal accords with local plan saved policy HE10 and the NPPF. 
 

5.34 Air Quality 
The air quality in the area is considered to be generally good. The impacts of 
the additional traffic associated with this development are not expected to have 
any significant impact on local air quality.  The air quality officer has, however, 
requested a condition on electric charging points with a view to offsetting the 
additional traffic emissions on the local and wider road network.  Officers 
consider this to be reasonable and in accordance with local plan policy CP33. 
 

5.35 Contamination 
The Phase 2 Site Appraisal and Supplementary Ground Investigation have 
identified that the site lies in proximity of three landfill sites. The report 
highlights that Kennington landfill to the north west of the site accepted inert 
waste and that Sandford Lane North and South landfills to the north east and 
east received both inert and industrial waste.  Site investigations have not 
identified the presence of any soil contamination on site or any landfilling 
encroaching onto the site. The investigation incorporated thirteen rounds of gas 
monitoring over a period of six months to assess the potential for gas migration 
from the nearby historic landfills and characterised the site as Characteristic 
Situation 1 in accordance with BS8485. Environmental Health confirm a 
Characteristic Situation 1 determination requires no ground gas protection 
measures to be installed and raise no objection to the proposed development. 
 

5.36 Ecology and biodiversity  
Ecology 
The application site has been subject to ecological surveys. The proposals are 
not expected to lead to any significant impacts on nationally or locally 
designated sites in the local area. 
 
Habitats: The dominant habitat on site is an intensively managed arable field of 
low ecological value. The hedgerows along the northern southern and western 
boundaries are considered the most valuable habitats present, the only direct 
impacts on these hedgerows would result from the creation of two access 
points in the western hedgerow, which is acceptable. 
  
Species: Due to the intensive arable management, there are relatively few 
species associated with this site. Bat surveys have shown that the northern and 
southern site boundaries are used by a variety of species for foraging and 
commuting to favoured feeding areas, probably associated with the woodland 
to the west and the River Thames to the east. The countryside officer confirms 
the proposals would not have any direct impacts on these boundaries but it will 

Page 59



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

be important that any light spillage into these boundaries is minimised.  Lighting 
details can be secured through condition. 
 
 

5.37 Biodiversity 
Policy CP46 calls for all developments to deliver a net gain in biodiversity if 
possible but, as a minimum, to avoid a net loss. In this case the proposals do 
not comply with policy CP46. However, given the low value of the existing 
habitats (mainly arable) the countryside officer considers it would be 
appropriate in this case to consider offsetting these losses through seeking 
financial contributions towards offsite biodiversity enhancements to achieve 
compliance with the policy. 
 

5.38 The applicant has submitted a Biodiversity Impact Calculation (BIC) based on 
the detailed landscape drawings. The results of the BIC have shown that the 
proposals will result in a net loss of biodiversity on site when compared to the 
existing site conditions resulting in a total contribution of £46,000 towards an 
offsetting scheme delivered through an offsetting provider.  This can be 
secured through a S106 agreement. 
 

5.39 Subject to the contribution, the proposal accords with the NPPF and local plan 
policy CP46. 
 

5.40 CIL & S106 contributions  
The NPPF advises that planning obligations should only be sought where they 
meet all of the following tests in paragraph 204:  

I. Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms;  

II. Directly related to the development; and 
III. Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 

development. 
 
Local Plan policy CP7 expects new development to provide the necessary on-
site, and, where appropriate, off-site infrastructure requirements arising from 
the proposal with them delivered directly by the developer and / or through an 
appropriate financial contribution. 
 

5.41 Community Infrastructure Levy  
This application is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The 
council’s CIL charging schedule was adopted in September 2017 and 
implemented in November 2017.   
 

5.42 In general, off-site mitigation would be sought via CIL. Items such as off-site 
leisure, GP/NHS facilities, schools and community facilities are funded by the 
levy. The money collected through CIL can be pooled with contributions from 
other development sites to fund off-site infrastructure to support growth. On-site 
facilities and direct mitigation elements are still sought via a S106 agreement. 
 

Page 60



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

5.43 The site falls within the ‘Zone 1’ CIL charging schedule, which would be 
£131.33 per square metre of residential development (subject to index linking).  
The levy for this development is approximately £2,988,778.  
 

5.44 The parish council have expressed concerns with how CIL receipts will be 
allocated. In line with CIL legislation, a CIL spending strategy needs to be 
adopted by the council. This is currently being worked on. Once it is adopted, it 
would set out how CIL would be spent in the District to fund infrastructure to 
support development. 
 

5.45 Radley does not yet have a made neighbourhood plan, so in line with CIL 
legislation, only 15% of CIL receipts would go to the Parish Council in this 
case. 
 

5.46 S106 
The following items are not covered by the CIL levy and should be secured 
through a S106 agreement. 
 

5.47 Public transport  
A contribution towards improving the existing bus service will be required to go 
towards a service frequency increase of four buses an hour in both directions.  
There are bus stops located along Kennington Road which also need 
improving with real time information displays. The required contributions are 
justified and necessary. 
 

5.48 Cycle infrastructure 
A contribution towards upgrading the Sustrans National Cycle Route towards 
Oxford and to provide additional cycle parking at Radley station has been 
requested. The required contributions are justified and necessary. 
 

5.49 Public rights of way 
There is expected to be an increase in numbers of residents and their visitors 
using the rights of way network to the north, west and east of the development 
site, particularly to gain access to the Thames Path National Trail and 
northwards to Kennington. The county council requires a financial contribution 
to mitigate the increase in numbers of residents and their visitors accessing the 
network along these routes.  This is justified and necessary. 
 

5.50 Public Art 
Local plan saved policy DC3 expects the provision of public art which makes a 
significant contribution to the appearance of the scheme or the character of the 
area. A financial contribution of £300 per dwelling is expected from this 
development. 
 

5.51 Waste 
The proposed dwellings will need waste bins in which refuse can be 
placed and collected by the council’s waste service teams. A 
contribution of £170 per dwelling is expected towards providing waste 
 

Page 61



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

bins for the dwellings on the site. The amount requested in justified and 
based on the costs to this council in purchasing the bins. 

5.52 Street naming 
The streets will need to be named and signage provided by the council. This is 
a direct result of the development and a contribution towards these costs is 
justified and the amount sought is proportionate. 

5.53 Community land 
In addition to the residential development, this application seeks outline 
permission for the change of use of land for community use.  The location of 
the land within the development is acceptable and the use will be secured 
through the legal agreement. 

5.54 The following S106 developer contributions are considered justified, fair and 
proportionate: 

District Council Amount (£)
Bin provision on this site £48,110
Public art  £84,900
Street naming  £4,118
Monitoring this s106  £1,892
TOTAL £139,020

Oxfordshire County 
Council  

Amount (£) 

Lodge Hill Slips £990,500
Public transport £135,324.94
Bus stop RTI displays £30,306
Sustrans NCN 5 £124,000
Travel Plan £125,750
Travel Plan Monitoring £1,240
Radley Station cycle 
parking provision 

£8,640 

Public rights of way £20,000
TRO consultation fee £800
S106 Monitoring TBC
TOTAL £1,435,760.94

6.0 CONCLUSION
6.1 The application has been assessed on its merits, against the requirements of 

the adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1, saved policies of the adopted Local Plan 
2011 and the National Planning Policy Framework. Regard has been given to 
the draft Radley Neighbourhood plan but as this is yet to be adopted, it’s 
policies hold limited weight. The application site is included as a strategic 
housing allocation in the council’s adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1 to contribute 
towards the sustainable planned growth of the district.

Page 62



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

6.2 The application will provide an economic and social role through construction 
employment, increased investment in the local economy and providing 
additional market and the policy complaint 35% affordable housing. The 
application will make contributions towards local infrastructure, whether via 
S106 or through CIL. It would provide off-site highway mitigation in terms of 
traffic calming, new and improved cycle tracks and through a contribution 
towards the strategic highway infrastructure project of the Lodge Hill Slips. 

6.3 In terms of the environmental role, limited harm has been identified with 
respects to localised landscape impact and loss of habitats on the site. 
Mitigation in terms of biodiversity has been agreed to alleviate these impacts.  
Officers consider that the proposed benefits of the scheme as identified above 
outweigh the less than substantial harm in this case.  

6.4 There are no technical objections to the proposal, subject to appropriate 
conditions.  Overall in the planning balance, the benefits of the scheme 
particularly in providing housing towards the District’s plan-led need and 
sustainable growth and provision of contributions towards highways and local 
infrastructure which will have local and wider benefits, are considered to 
outweigh the limited harm that has been identified. As such, it is concluded that 
the proposal is sustainable development that accords with the development 
plan.  The application is recommended for approval.

Development Plan Policies 
The following planning policies have been taken in to account. 

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031, part 1: 
CP01  -  Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
CP02  -  Cooperation on Unmet Housing Need for Oxfordshire 
CP03  -  Settlement Hierarchy 
CP04  -  Meeting Our Housing Needs 
CP07  -  Providing Supporting Infrastructure and Services 
CP08  -  Spatial Strategy for Abingdon-on-Thames and Oxford Fringe Sub-Area 
CP22  -  Housing Mix 
CP23  -  Housing Density 
CP24  -  Affordable Housing 
CP26  -  Accommodating Current and Future Needs of the Ageing Population 
CP33  -  Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 
CP35  -  Promoting Public Transport, Cycling and Walking 
CP36  -  Electronic communications 
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness 
CP38  -  Design Strategies for Strategic and Major Development Sites 
CP39  -  The Historic Environment 
CP40  -  Sustainable Design and Construction 
CP42  -  Flood Risk 
CP43  -  Natural Resources 
CP44  -  Landscape 
CP45  -  Green Infrastructure 
CP46  -  Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity

Page 63



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

CP47  -  Delivery and Contingency 

Saved policies of Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011: 
CF2  -  Provision of New Community Services and Facilities 
DC3  -  Design against crime 
DC4  -  Public Art 
DC5  -  Access 
DC6  -  Landscaping 
DC7  -  Waste Collection and Recycling 
DC9  -  The Impact of Development on Neighbouring Uses 
DC10  -  The Effect of Neighbouring or Previous Uses on New Development 
DC12  -  Water Quality and Resources 
DC20  -  External Lighting 
H23  -  Open Space in New Housing Development 
HE9  -  Archaeology 
HE10  -  Archaeology 
HE11  -  Archaeology 
L10  -  Safeguarding and Improving Public Rights of Way 
TR5  -  The National Cycle Network 

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031, part 2: 
A publication draft of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2 has been 
subject to public consultation, and will be examined in the Summer.  Until 
examination, this Local Plan remains at an early stage of preparation and 
accordingly its policies have limited weight at present.  Notwithstanding, the 
following policies are material to the consideration of this application: 

DP2 - Space Standards 
DP8 - Community Services and Facilities 
DP11 - Community Employment Plans 
DP16 - Access 
DP17 - Transport Assessments and Travel Plans 
DP20 - Public Art 
DP21 - External Lighting 
DP23 - Impact of Development on Amenity 
DP24 - Effect of Neighbouring or Previous Uses on New Developments 
DP25 - Noise Pollution 
DP26 - Air Quality 
DP27 - Land Affected By Contamination 
DP28 - Waste Collection and Recycling 
DP31 - Protection of Public Rights of Way, National Trails and Open Access 
Areas 
DP33 - Open Space 
DP34 - Leisure and Sports Facilities 
DP36 - Heritage Assets 
DP39 - Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments 

Neighbourhood Plan Policies: 
A submission draft of the Radley Neighbourhood Plan (December 2017) has 
been subject to public consultation, and is now awaiting Examination.  The plan 

Page 64



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 18 June 2018 

remains at an early stage of preparation and accordingly its policies have limited 
weight at present.  Notwithstanding, the following policies are material to the 
consideration of this application: 

PP4 - Housing Mix and Type at Largescale Sites 
PP7 - Facilities on South Kennington Housing Site 
PP9 - Primary Healthcare 
PP11 - Roads 
PP12 - Cycling & Walking 
PP13 - Connectivity 
PP14 - Radley Station 
PP15 - Surface Drainage 
PP16 - Sewerage 
PP17 - Historic Environment 

Adopted guidance 
Vale of White Horse Design Guide SPD – March 2015 
Developer Contributions SPD – June 2017 

Other Relevant Legislation 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990  
Community & Infrastructure Levy Legislation 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
Obligations under Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 
Provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006  
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 
Localism Act (including New Homes Bonus)

Author:          Stuart Walker 
Contact No:   01235 422600 
Email:            planning@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

Page 65



HEN
L

D
C

C
4

HENL
DCC4

HENL
DCC4

HENL
DCC4

SUND
DCC5

DARTDCC3 DART
DCC3

DART 3DCC2 DARTDCC3

TAVYDCC3 TAVY
DCC3 TAVY

DCC3

C
A

M
B

D
C

C
5

MARB
DCC5

SUND
DCC5

TAV3
DCC1

P

P

P

P

P

GATE

GATE

200550N 200550N

200600N 200600N

200650N 200650N

200700N 200700N

200750N 200750N

200800N 200800N

200850N 200850N

200900N 200900N

200950N 200950N

201000N 201000N

201050N 201050N

201100N 201100N

6

2

.
5

4

6
1
.9

7

6
1
.
8
4

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P P

P

P

P

P

5

8

.
2

0

SF

61.07

TAVY
DCC3

TAVY
DCC3TAVY

DCC3
TAV3
DCC1

LEAP

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
3

D
C

C
1

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
Y

D
C

C
3

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
3

D
C

C
1

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
Y

D
C

C
3

MARB
DCC5

MARB
DCC5

HEN
L

D
C

C
4

M
A

RB
D

C
C

5
SU

N
D

D
C

C
5

SUND
DCC5 MARB

DCC5

HENL
DCC4

O
XF

O
D

C
C

1
O

XF
O

D
C

C
1

O
XF

O
D

C
C

1

C
A

M
B

D
C

C
5

CAMB DCC5

HEN
L

D
C

C
4

M
A

RB
D

C
C

5
SUN

D
D

C
C

5

SUND DCC5

LED
B

D
C

C
4

LED
G

D
C

C
4

LED
B

D
C

C
4

LED
B

D
C

C
4

TAVYDCC3 TAV3
DCC1

TAVY
DCC3 TAVY

DCC3

AM
BY

DC
C

5

OXFO
DCC1

AMBYDCC5

HE
N

L
D

C
C

4

CAMB DCC5
CAMB DCC5

AMBY DCC5

HEN
L

D
C

C
4

SUN
D

D
C

C
5

OXFO DCC1

HENL
DCC4

OXFO DCC1

DART
DCC3

DART 3
DCC2

DART
DCC3TAVY

DCC3
TAVY
DCC3

DARTDCC3

DARTDCC3

TAVYDCC3 TAVY
DCC3 TAVYDCC3

TAV3
DCC1

LEDB
DCC4LEDB

DCC4

M
A

LV
B1

D
C

C
6

M
A

LV
B1

D
C

C
6

AMBYDCC5

LED
B

D
C

C
4

LED
G

D
C

C
4

LED
B

D
C

C
4

LED
B

D
C

C
4

TAVY DCC3TAVY DCC3

LE
DB

DC
C

4
LE

DG
DC

C
4

LE
DB

DC
C

4

LE
DB

DC
C

4

LEDB
DC

C
4

LEDG
DC

C
4

LEDB
DC

C
4

LEDB
DC

C
4

D
A

RT
D

C
C

3
D

A
RT

D
C

C
3

D
A

RT
D

C
C

3
D

A
RT

 3
D

C
C

2
D

A
RT

D
C

C
3

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
3

D
C

C
1

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
Y

D
C

C
3

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
Y

D
C

C
3C

A
M

B
D

C
C

5
C

A
M

B
D

C
C

5

M
A

RB
D

C
C

5

SU
N

D
D

C
C

5

O
XFO

D
C

C
1

LEDB
DCC4

LEDG DCC4
LEDB DCC4

LEDB
DCC4

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
Y

D
C

C
3

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
3

D
C

C
1

D
A

RT
D

C
C

3

TAVYDCC3 TAVYDCC3

A
M

BY
D

C
C

5

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
Y

D
C

C
3

LE
D

B
D

C
C

4
LE

D
G

D
C

C
4

LE
D

B
D

C
C

4

LE
D

B
D

C
C

4

M
A

LV
B1

D
C

C
6

M
A

L4
D

C
C

5
M

A
LV

B1
D

C
C

6

AMBYDCC5

A
M

BY
D

C
C

5

M
A

LV
B3

D
C

C
6

M
A

L4
D

C
C

5

TAVY DCC3

TAV3 DCC1

TAVY DCC3

TAVY DCC3

TAVYDCC3

TAV3DCC1

TAVYDCC3

TAVYDCC3

DART
DCC3

LUDL
DCC3

LUDL
DCC3

SHRB
D

C
C

1
LUD

L
D

C
C

3
LUD

L
D

C
C

3

W
A

RW
~

D
C

C
1

W
A

RW
~

D
C

C
1

W
A

RW
~

D
C

C
1

W
A

RW
~

D
C

C
1

W
AR

W
~

DC
C1

W
ARW

~
DC

C
1

SHRB
D

C
C

1

LU
D

L
D

C
C

3
LU

D
L

D
C

C
3

O
XF

O
~

D
C

C
1

OXFO~
DCC1

O
XF

O
~

D
C

C
1

OXFO~
DCC1

O
XF

O
~

D
C

C
1

OXFO~DCC1

O
XFO

~
D

C
C

1

OXFO~ DCC1

O
XFO

~
D

C
C

1
O

XFO
~

D
C

C
1

O
XF

O
~

D
C

C
1

OXFO~ DCC1

O
XFO

~
D

C
C

1
O

XFO
~

D
C

C
1

LEAM~
DCC1

LEAM~
DCC1

LEAM~
DCC1

LEAM~DCC1

LEA
M

~
D

C
C

1

C
A

M
B

D
C

C
5

LUDLDCC3
LUDLDCC3

STRA
D

C
C

7
W

A
RW

D
C

C
5

STRA
D

C
C

7
W

A
RW

D
C

C
5

WARWDCC5

TAVY
DCC3

DARTDCC3
DART
DCC3

DART 3DCC2 DARTDCC3
TWEEDCC1 TWEEDCC1

SH
RB

D
C

C
1

M
A

LV
B3

D
C

C
6

LUDL
DCC3

LUDL
DCC3

LUDL DCC3

LUDL DCC3

ST
RA

DC
C7

W
AR

W
DC

C
5

W
AR

W
DC

C5

W
A

RW
D

C
C

5

SH
RB

DCC1

SHRB
D

C
C

1

SH
RB

DCC1

SH
RB

DCC1

SHRB
D

C
C

1
SHRB
D

C
C

1

LUD
L

D
C

C
3

LUD
L

D
C

C
3

LU
D

L
D

C
C

3
LU

D
L

D
C

C
3

SHRB DCC1

ST
RA

D
C

C
7

M

A

I

S

M

A

I

S

TAVY
DCC3

TAVY
DCC3

TAV3
DCC1

TAVY
DCC3

TAVY
DCC3

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
Y

D
C

C
3

W
A

RW
D

C
C

5

W
A

RW
D

C
C

5

AMBYDCC5

AMBY
DCC5

WARW
DCC5

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
Y

D
C

C
3

M

A

I

S

M

A

I

S

TAVY DCC3

LEA
M

~
D

C
C

1
LEA

M
~

D
C

C
1

LEAM~
DCC1

LEAM~
DCC1

LEA
M

~
D

C
C

1

Balancing

Pond

LAND FOR

COMMUNITY

BUILDING

0.18 HA

Balancing

Pond

W
ARW

~
DCC1

WARW
DCC5

LE
A

M
~

D
C

C
1

LEAM~
DCC1

LEA
M

~
D

C
C

1

LEAM~
DCC1

LEAM~
DCC1

LEAM~DCC1

O
XF

O
~

D
C

C
1

O
XF

O
~

D
C

C
1

W
A

RW
D

C
C

5

W
A

RW
~

D
C

C
1

L1B

L1B

L1B

L1B

L1B

L1B

L1B

L1B

L1B

LEDB
DCC4

LEDGDCC4
LEDBDCC4

LEDB
DCC4

STRA
D

C
C

7

L1B L1B

SH
RB

DC
C1

W
AR

W
DC

C
5

DARTDCC3
DARTDCC3

TA
V

Y
D

C
C

3
TA

V
3

D
C

C
1

TAVY
DC

C
3

TAV3
DC

C
1

TAVY
DC

C
3

TAVY
DC

C
3

W
ARW

~
DCC1

W
ARW

~
DC

C
1

Redrow Homes NW

Redrow House, St David's Park, Flintshire, CH5 3RX.

Tel: 01244 545655   Fax: 01244 552750   Web: www.redrow.co.uk

Legal Disclaimer TBC

This layout has been designed after due consideration of our Context & Constraints Plan

Revision AmendmentDate Initials

Marketing Name

Revision

Drawing NumberDrawing Title

Drawn ByChecked byScale @ A0Date Started Date

DevelopmentLocationSTAGELOPMENTLOCATION

DATE

MARKETING

Marketing Name

Revision

Drawing Number

Drawing Title

Drawn By

Checked by

Scale @ A0

Date Started

Date

Development

Location

Kennington

Oxfordshire

1:500

12/09/17

F

2467/22/02/01

Proposed Site Layout

OY

Kennington

False Chimney

Corner Unit

Indicative Landscaping

Affordable Housing

A Layout amended in response to comments received12/02/18 OY

B Layout amended in response to comments received12/03/18 OY

C Additional footpath links added16/04/18 OY

D Altered mix27/06/18 OY

E Additional pathway added07/08/18 OY

F Units amended to line up with schedule08/08/18 OY

Appendix 2

Page 66

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANDFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
KENNINGTON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
CCS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
SANDFORD LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Cemetery

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
CS

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
SUGWORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
MP 59.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
KENNINGTON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
CCS

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
171

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
145

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
151

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
169

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
172

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
170

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
264

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
126

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
127

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
139

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
129

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
131

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
138

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
137

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
135

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
133

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
132

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
136

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
143

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
144

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
146

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
147

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
149

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
142

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
141

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
148

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
161

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
150

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
152

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
153

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
154

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
155

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
156

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
160

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
158

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
159

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
157

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
166

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
167

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
168

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
164

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
165

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
163

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
174

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
180

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
173

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
179

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
175

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
195

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
196

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
197

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
198

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
199

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
200

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
215

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
214

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
213

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
202

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
203

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
204

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
205

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
206

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
207

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
208

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
209

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
210

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
211

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
212

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
269

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
268

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
267

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
266

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
265

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
263

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
262

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
261

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
260

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
259

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
271

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
272

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
273

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
275

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
276

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
277

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
278

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
280

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
279

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
281

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
282

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
283

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
254

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
256

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
257

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
126

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
135

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
277

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
165

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
140

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
162

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
176

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
181

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
216

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
218

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
223

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
224

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
225

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
230

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
231

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
232

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
233

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
234

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
235

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
236

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
237

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
238

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
239

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
240

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
241

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
242

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
243

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
244

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
248

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
249

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
250

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
251

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
219

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
220

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
221

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
222

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
182-185

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
229

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
245

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
177

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
178

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
201

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
217

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
226

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
227

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
228

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
246

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
247

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
186-189

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
190

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
191

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
192

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
193

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
194

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
171

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
172

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
193

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
178

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
139

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
139

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
138

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
138

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
137

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
137

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
135

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
133

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
133

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
132

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
131

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
129

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
127

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
127

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
126

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
144

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
144

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
141

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
142

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
142

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
141

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
161

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
160

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
161

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
158

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
160

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
159

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
159

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
157

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
157

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
156

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
272

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
272

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
270

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
270

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
268

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
259

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
256

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
256

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
254

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
254

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
283

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
283

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
282

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
282

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
281

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
281

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
280

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
280

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
279

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
279

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
278

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
278

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
277

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
276

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
274

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
166

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
166

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
167

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
167

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
168

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
168

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
174

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
175

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
179

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
179

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
180

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
180

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
163

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
163

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
164

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
165

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
164

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
195

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
195

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
196

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
197

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
198

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
198

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
199

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
199

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
200

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
200

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
201

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
202

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
202

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
210

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
210

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
211

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
211

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
212

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
212

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
213

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
213

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
214

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
214

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
243

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
243

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
242

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
242

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
241

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
241

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
267

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
128

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
136

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
136

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
140

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
140

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
143

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
143

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
145

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
146

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
147

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
148

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
149

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
150

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
151

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
152

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
153

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
154

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
155

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
155

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
158

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
156

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
162

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
162

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
173

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
176

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
181

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
181

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
201

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
203

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
203

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
204

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
205

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
206

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
207

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
208

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
209

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
215

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
215

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
217

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
217

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
218

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
218

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
224

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
225

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
226

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
227

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
227

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
227

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
228

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
228

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
229

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
229

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
232

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
232

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
233

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
234

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
235

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
236

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
237

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
238

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
240

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
249

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
250

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
251

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
276

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
268

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
266

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
265

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
264

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
263

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
262

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
260

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
265

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
261

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
248

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
248

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
246

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
245

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
246

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
245

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
244

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
244

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
222

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
192

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
223

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
221

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
220

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
219

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
216

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
216

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
194

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
191

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
177

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
178

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
177

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
182

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
183

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
185

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
184

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
189

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
188

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
187

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
186

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
190

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
149

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
150

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
152

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
151

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
172

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
174

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
191

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
205

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
233

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
249

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
237

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
190

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
192

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
193

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
194

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
176

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
175

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
196

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
197

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
204

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
206

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
207

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
208

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
209

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
274

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
250

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
251

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
131

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
132

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
129

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
260

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
259

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
240

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
238

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
236

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
235

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
234

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
171

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
261

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
262

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
263

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
264

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
266

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
267

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
146

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
145

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
147

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
148

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
153

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
154

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
169

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
170

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
169

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
170

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
172

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
252

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
273

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
273

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
269

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
269

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
257

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
257

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
250

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
250

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
247

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
247

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
239

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
239

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
231

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
231

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
219

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
220

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
221

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
222

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
223

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
224

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
226

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
225

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
227

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
253

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
253

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
253

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
255

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
255

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
255

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
258

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
258

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
258

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
271

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
271

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
270

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
275

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
275

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
274

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
A



LEDBURY

4.34 x 2.47

KITCHEN/

DINING

1.70 x 1.11

CLOAKS

HALL

4.85 x 3.14

LOUNGE

ST

LEDBURY

4.34 x 2.47

KITCHEN/

DINING

1.70 x 1.11

CLOAKS

HALL

4.85 x 3.14

LOUNGE

ST

LEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1B

1.48 x 1.11

CLOAKS

HALL

4.63 x 2.53

LOUNGE

ST

CLOAKS

HALL

LOUNGE

ST

3.73 x 2.47

KITCHEN/

DINING

KITCHEN/

DINING

3.73 x 2.47

4.63 x 2.53

1.48 x 1.11

LEDBURY

4.34 x 2.71

3.43 x 3.16

ENSUITE 1

1.94 x 1.71

LANDING

ST

2.47 x 1.09

ENSUITE 2
BEDROOM 2

BEDROOM 1

LEDBURY

4.34 x 2.71

3.43 x 3.16

ENSUITE 1

1.94 x 1.71

LANDING

ST

2.47 x 1.09

ENSUITE 2
BEDROOM 2

BEDROOM 1

LEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1B

BEDROOM 1 BEDROOM 1

LANDING LANDING

3.72 x 4.3
3.72 x 4.3

ST ST

BATHROOM

3.72 x 2.46

BATHROOM

3.72 x 2.46

Scale 1:100
0 1 2 3 4 5 (m)

Marketing Name

Revision

Drawing Number

Drawing Title

Drawn By

Checked by

Scale @ A3

Date Started

Date

Development

Location

Kennington

Oxfordshire

1:100

02/07/18

-

2467/22/02/LED/L1B-01

Ledbury / Ledbury 1B Plans

OY

Kennington

Revision AmendmentDate Initials

NOTES:

TEXT

Redrow Homes South Midlands

Redrow House, 6 Waterside Way, The Lakes, Northampton, NN4 7XD

Tel: 01604 601115   Fax: 01604 603113   Web: www.redrow.co.uk

Legal Disclaimer TBC

This layout has been designed after due consideration of our Context & Constraints Plan

As

276-279P
age 67



LEDBURY LEDBURYLEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1B

LEDBURY LEDBURYLEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1B

Front Elevation

Side Elevation 

Side Elevation 

Rear  Elevation 

Scale 1:100
0 1 2 3 4 5 (m)

Marketing Name

Revision

Drawing Number

Drawing Title

Drawn By

Checked by

Scale @ A3

Date Started

Date

Development

Location

Kennington

Oxfordshire

1:100

02/07/18

-

2467/22/02/LED/L1B-02

Ledbury/Ledbury 1B elevations

OY

Kennington

Revision AmendmentDate Initials

NOTES:

TEXT

Redrow Homes South Midlands

Redrow House, 6 Waterside Way, The Lakes, Northampton, NN4 7XD

Tel: 01604 601115   Fax: 01604 603113   Web: www.redrow.co.uk

Legal Disclaimer TBC

This layout has been designed after due consideration of our Context & Constraints Plan

As

 276-279P
age 68



BEDROOM 1 BEDROOM 1

LEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1B

ST

3.72 x 4.3

BEDROOM 1

LANDING

BATHROOM

3.72 x 2.46

LEDBURY 1B

BEDROOM 1

LEDBURY 1B

LANDING

3.72 x 4.67

BEDROOM 1

BATHROOM

2.2 x 1.7

LEDBURY 1B
CORNER UNIT

ST

LANDING LANDING LANDING

3.72 x 4.3
3.72 x 4.3

3.72 x 4.3

ST ST

BATHROOM

3.72 x 2.46

ST

BATHROOM

3.72 x 2.46

BATHROOM

3.72 x 2.46

1.48 x 1.11

CLOAKS

HALL

4.63 x 2.53

LOUNGE

ST

CLOAKS

HALL

LOUNGE

ST

3.73 x 2.47

KITCHEN/

DINING

KITCHEN/

DINING

3.73 x 2.47

4.63 x 2.53

1.48 x 1.11

LEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1B

1.48 x 1.11

CLOAKS

HALL

4.63 x 2.53

LOUNGE

ST

123

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11 12 13 14

3.73 x 2.47

KITCHEN/

DINING

LEDBURY 1B

CLOAKS

HALL

LOUNGE

ST

KITCHEN/

DINING

3.73 x 2.47

4.63 x 2.53

1.48 x 1.11

LEDBURY 1B

1
2

3

4 5 6 7 8 9 10

11
12

13
14

4.04 x 2.41

LOUNGE

HALL

ST

1.46 x 1

CLOAKS

3.73 x 2.47

KITCHEN/

DINING

LEDBURY 1B
CORNER UNIT

123

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11 12 13 14

1 2 3
4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11121314

1 2 3
4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11121314

First Floor

Ground Floor 

Scale 1:100
0 1 2 3 4 5 (m)

Marketing Name

Revision

Drawing Number

Drawing Title

Drawn By

Checked by

Scale @ A3

Date Started

Date

Development

Location

Kennington

Oxfordshire

1:100

02/07/18

-

2467/22/02/LED1B-03

Ledbury 1B 5 block plans

OY

Kennington

Revision AmendmentDate Initials

NOTES:

TEXT

Redrow Homes South Midlands

Redrow House, 6 Waterside Way, The Lakes, Northampton, NN4 7XD

Tel: 01604 601115   Fax: 01604 603113   Web: www.redrow.co.uk

Legal Disclaimer TBC

This layout has been designed after due consideration of our Context & Constraints Plan

As

219-222

P
age 69



LEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1BLEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1BLEDBURY 1B
CORNER UNIT

LEDBURY 1B
CORNER UNIT

LEDBURY 1B

LEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1BLEDBURY 1BLEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1B
CORNER UNIT

Front Elevation

Side Elevation 

Side Elevation 

Rear  Elevation 

Scale 1:100
0 1 2 3 4 5 (m)

Marketing Name

Revision

Drawing Number

Drawing Title

Drawn By

Checked by

Scale @ A3

Date Started

Date

Development

Location

Kennington

Oxfordshire

1:100

11/10/17

-

2467/22/02/LED1B-04

Ledbury 1B 5 Block Elevations

OY

Kennington

Revision AmendmentDate Initials

NOTES:

TEXT

Redrow Homes South Midlands

Redrow House, 6 Waterside Way, The Lakes, Northampton, NN4 7XD

Tel: 01604 601115   Fax: 01604 603113   Web: www.redrow.co.uk

Legal Disclaimer TBC

This layout has been designed after due consideration of our Context & Constraints Plan

As

223-227

P
age 70



LEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1BLEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1B
CORNER UNIT

LANDING

3.72 x 4.67

BEDROOM 1

BATHROOM

2.2 x 1.7

ST

BEDROOM 1 BEDROOM 1

3.72 x 4.3

BEDROOM 1

LANDING LANDING LANDING

3.72 x 4.3
3.72 x 4.3

ST

BATHROOM

3.72 x 2.46

ST ST

3.72 x 2.46

BATHROOM

3.72 x 2.46

BATHROOM

LEDBURY 1BLEDBURY 1BLEDBURY 1B

1
2

3
45678910

11
12

13
14

CORNER UNIT

LEDBURY 1B
CORNER UNIT

123

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11 12 13 14

123

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11 12 13 14

1 2 3
4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11121314

1.48 x 1.11

CLOAKS

HALL

4.63 x 2.53

LOUNGE

ST

3.73 x 2.47

KITCHEN/

DINING

1.48 x 1.11

CLOAKS

HALL

4.63 x 2.53

LOUNGE

ST

3.73 x 2.47

KITCHEN/

DINING

3.73 x 2.47

KITCHEN/

DINING

4.04 x 2.41

LOUNGE

1.46 x 1

CLOAKS

HALL

ST

1.48 x 1.11

CLOAKS

HALL

4.63 x 2.53

LOUNGE

ST

3.73 x 2.47

KITCHEN/

DINING

First Floor

Ground Floor 

Scale 1:100
0 1 2 3 4 5 (m)

Marketing Name

Revision

Drawing Number

Drawing Title

Drawn By

Checked by

Scale @ A3

Date Started

Date

Development

Location

Kennington

Oxfordshire

1:100

02/07/18

-

2467/22/02/LED1B-05

Ledbury 1B 4 block plans

OY

Kennington

Revision AmendmentDate Initials

NOTES:

TEXT

Redrow Homes South Midlands

Redrow House, 6 Waterside Way, The Lakes, Northampton, NN4 7XD

Tel: 01604 601115   Fax: 01604 603113   Web: www.redrow.co.uk

Legal Disclaimer TBC

This layout has been designed after due consideration of our Context & Constraints Plan

As

219-222

P
age 71



FRONT ELEVATION
LEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1BLEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1B

CORNER UNIT

LEDBURY 1B

LEDBURY 1B
CORNER UNIT

REAR ELEVATIONREAR ELEVATION

LEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1B LEDBURY 1BLEDBURY 1B
CORNER UNIT

Front Elevation

Side Elevation 

Side Elevation 

Rear  Elevation 

Scale 1:100
0 1 2 3 4 5 (m)

Marketing Name

Revision

Drawing Number

Drawing Title

Drawn By

Checked by

Scale @ A3

Date Started

Date

Development

Location

Kennington

Oxfordshire

1:100

02/07/18

-

2467/22/02/LED-06

Ledbury 1B 4 Block Elevations

OY

Kennington

Revision AmendmentDate Initials

NOTES:

TEXT

Redrow Homes South Midlands

Redrow House, 6 Waterside Way, The Lakes, Northampton, NN4 7XD

Tel: 01604 601115   Fax: 01604 603113   Web: www.redrow.co.uk

Legal Disclaimer TBC

This layout has been designed after due consideration of our Context & Constraints Plan

219-222

P
age 72



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

APPLICATION NO. P17/V2973/RM 
SITE Land North of Summertown East Hanney 

Oxon 
PARISH EAST HANNEY 
PROPOSAL Approval of details for construction of 45 

dwellings (Use Class C3) and associated 
parking, infrastructure and landscaping, 
and provision of public open space. 

WARD MEMBER(S) Matthew Barber 
APPLICANT Bovis Homes Limited 
OFFICER Adrian Butler 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
It is recommended that reserved matters are approved subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. Approved plans 
2. Materials to be submitted and approved 
3. Landscaping scheme needed 
4. Landscaping implementation 
5. Ecological mitigation and enhancement to be delivered 
6. Barn owl/bat building provision before final occupancy 
7. Car parking and turning spaces to be provided before 

occupation of each dwelling 
8. Provision of final wearing course to roads 
9. No street lighting 
10. Noise mitigation 
11. Boundary treatments to be submitted and approved 
12. Permitted development removal – means of enclosure, 

extensions and roof alterations 
 
The planning conditions and s106 agreement for the outline permission 
remain applicable. 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL  
1.1 The application is presented to committee as East Hanney Parish 

Council objects. 
 

1.2 It is an application seeking approval of reserved matters for 45 
dwellings following the grant of outline planning permission in May 
2016 for up to 55 dwellings on this site. The reserved matters for 
consideration under this application are appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale. 
 

1.3 This application is not an opportunity to revisit the principle of 
development, the means of access or traffic generation as these are 
established by the outline permission. Surface water drainage details 
are also the subject of a condition on the outline permission which will 
need to be complied with. The council is only considering the detail of 

Page 73

Agenda Item 10

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/V0226/RM


Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

the proposal in respect of its appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale. 
 

1.4 Amended plans and supporting documents have been submitted on six 
occasions. These have sought to address comments expressed by 
technical consultees and planning officers. Amendments include an 
updated and revised drainage strategy, amended layout with more 
open space, an internal road connection, revised parking and 
landscaping, the provision of a building for a bat and owl roost, and the 
lowering of roof heights.  
 

1.5 The site location is shown on the plan below. The land comprises 
pasture with ridge and furrow across it. The northern boundary is 
defined by a hedge with a public footpath adjacent and which connects 
Main Street and the A338. Adjoining the site to the east is Dews 
Meadow which comprises a bungalow, farm shop and agricultural 
buildings. Beyond the hedge on the east boundary is the A338. A 
hedge with occasional trees forms the southern boundary to the site 
with Summertown Road and open fields beyond. To the west are 
existing houses of mixed age and appearance. There are trees on the 
western boundary of the site together with a ‘wet’ ditch. The proposed 
site layout plan is attached as Appendix 1. 
 

 
 
 

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS AND 
REPRESENTATIONS ON CURRENT SUBMISSION 

2.1 A summary of the responses received to the current amended proposal 
is below.  A full copy of all comments made can be seen online at 
www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk  

 

Page 74

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

East Hanney Parish Council 

Object: Their objections and comments may be summarised as follows: 

 Changes made do not address fundamental reasons why the Parish 
Council objects 

 Overdevelopment – the density is too high at 18 dwellings per hectare 
(dph) with open space and 23 dph without. This compares to 16/ha for 
the village and 6/ha for neighbouring development; densities should 
be lower at the village edges. The density is out of keeping and 
detrimental to the character of the area contrary to CP37 of the Local 
Plan 

 Density is too high for this edge of village location; development 
should reflect the transition from rural village to open countryside. This 
is important due to open views from the south including from the new 
railway bridge on the A338 

 A housing proposal on land south of Summertown was refused and 
the subsequent appeal dismissed. The Planning Inspector in that case 
advised there were important visual impacts of development at this 
location in the village with the village having a pleasing foreground 
and advising development in the Lowland Vale should not be 
permitted if it has an adverse landscape impact 

 The Planning Inspector advised: “There are clear public views of the 
site from almost all directions. The land is flat and as well as the views 
from the adjoining roads there is a public footpath that runs parallel 
with the Brook along its west bank. When travelling north on the A338, 
the site forms the foreground for the village. The site can be seen from 
the railway to the south”…. “there would be some harm to the 
landscape particularly in local views. While the sensitivity of most 
receptors would be low, as most views would be by travellers on the 
A338, the landscape setting of the village would be harmed when 
viewed from the south”. 

 The proposal would have the same visual impact as the appeal 
scheme dismissed on the southern side of Summertown Road 

 The proposal is contrary to Core Policy 44 (ii) and (v) due to its 
harmful impact on the landscape setting of the village and impact on 
important views and visually sensitive skylines 

 No affordable bungalows provided which are needed in the village  

 Not convinced adequate accessible and usable open space has been 
provided 

 Inappropriate pallet of materials that do not reflect the rural nature of 
the village – painted brick is inappropriate. The village has interesting 
brick patters such as orange and dark brown bricks. The brick 
construction is neither interesting or reflective of the historic nature of 
the setting 

 Unsafe pedestrian access to bus stops which will require crossing the 
busy A338 with no pedestrian refuge 

 Proposals are too high especially with an uplift in levels by around 1m; 
further harms the character of the area 

 Need to consider light pollution 

Page 75



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

 Most of the site is subject to noise pollution from the A338 and this is 
significant and intrusive 

 Residents of new developments fronting the A338 have reported 
vibration from traffic using the A338 

 
The Parish Council has raised the following concerns which were considered 
in deciding the outline planning application for housing on this site: 
 

 This is not an allocated housing site and therefore, does not accord 
with the Local Plan (Officer note: the principle of up to 55 dwellings on 
this site has been permitted.) 

 Request the open space is transferred to the Parish Council (Officer 
note: The s106 accompanying the outline permission requires the 
open spaces to be transferred to a Management Company). 

 Inadequate pedestrian access to the centre of the village  

 The junction of Summertown Road with the A338 should not be 
widened (Officer note: means of access was considered at outline 
stage and is not part of the reserved matters to be considered) 

 Not sustainable – unconnected and isolated from the village  

 It has not been identified that there is insufficient capacity in the 
sewage system at the nearest connection point. Development should 
not progress until Thames Water has upgrade the system (Officer 
note: Thames Water does not object) 

 Flood risk assessment (FRA) is inadequate as it only assesses the 
site as a catchment area, fails to take account of subterranean water 
flows, The FRA should consider the wider area (Officer note: surface 
water drainage is subject to a planning condition on the outline 
permission requiring a scheme to be agreed prior to development 
commencing. The council’s drainage engineer does not object). 

 

Local residents 

Letters of objection have been received from 19 local addresses. The 
objections may be summarised as follows: 
 

 Urban form of development is out of keeping 

 Village character is being significantly eroded by development 
including this proposal 

 Extends the village to the south and has a detrimental impact in public 
views from the A338 and a footpath along the northern edge of the 
site 

 Presents a hard edge to the village which is out of keeping 

 Loss of the pastoral edge to the village – an issue raised by Planning 
Inspectors considering proposed housing applications to the south of 
Summertown Road and east of the A338 

 Proposed dwellings are too high and dominate the skyline in views 
from the south 

 Density is too high – a scheme of similar density was refused on land 
south of Summertown Road 

Page 76



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

 Proposals are poorly related to the surrounding agricultural land, 
buildings and heritage assets in terms of scale, form, massing and 
heights 

 House types are suburban in appearance and out of keeping 

 Loss of privacy for occupants of dwellings backing onto the site due to 
inadequate fencing proposals (1.2m high post and rail and mesh 
fencing) 

 Do not need any more five-bedroom houses. Need identified in the 
Neighbourhood Plan is for low cost smaller houses and bungalows 

 The affordable housing is not affordable to young people in the village 

 Increased noise from the increased traffic 

 Proposed roads appear too narrow  

 Lack of protection for bats and owls 

 All trees and hedges on site should be subject to preservation orders 

 Essential part of the village heritage 

 Lighting would impact on the dark skies and on wildlife 

 Impact on a barn owl nesting site 

 Swales with water in them could present a safety hazard to young 
children 

 Inadequate affordable housing provision 
 

The following concerns raised were considered in deciding the outline 
planning application for housing on this site: 
 

 The site is outside the village and is not allocated for housing. The 
proposal is contrary to Local Plan housing policy and if permitted 
could set a precedent 

 Does not integrate with the village. It is a self-contained addition out of 
keeping 

 Significantly erodes the village infrastructure e.g. the school lacks 
capacity 

 Increased traffic congestion especially on the A338 

 Inadequate pedestrian access to the village centre 

 Should extend a cycleway from Grove to East Hanney 

 Inadequate car parking 

 Increased bus travel through the village will further erode the verges 
on tight corners  

 Bus stop locations on the A338 and Summertown Road could be 
hazardous 

 Loss of site to housing represents loss of part of the flood alleviation 
system for the village, as the site holds water and has a high water 
table 

 Increased flood risk including for Main Street dwellings 

 Flood risk assessment has not been updated since 2015 

 Will the attenuation pond hold sufficient water from the development? 

 Water is retained on site in the furrows and the housing is at risk to 
flooding 

Page 77



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

 Pedestrian paths to the A338 would be dangerous as there is no 
evidence that bus stops will be installed on the A338 

 Detrimental impact on wildlife with the loss of Calcareous Grassland  

 Loss of ridge and furrow and Roman archaeology which needs be 
fully explored 

 

Oxfordshire County Council 

Highway officer 

 No objection. 
 

Conditions: 

 Cycle parking details to be submitted 

 Car parking to be provided 

 Estate roads to be provided 

 Further swept path analysis for a refuse vehicle to be provided 
 

Archaeology 
No objection 

 There are no archaeological constraints. 
 

Thames Water 

Sewerage Infrastructure Capacity 
No objection 
 

Environment Agency 

No comments: 

 Advise they are not a Statutory Consultee for reserved matters 
applications. Ask that any advice, conditions or informatives that they 
provided as part of the outline permission are taken into account. 
(Officer note: The Environment Agency did not object to the outline 
application and did not request any planning conditions. They 
recommended liaison with the council’s own drainage advisers). 

 

Drainage engineer 

No objection. 

 The revised information is acceptable. 
 

Conservation officer 

No objection. 

 The revised details have improved the overall scheme including 
reduction in roof heights which will help assimilate the new 
development into the site relative to the setting of the conservation 
area. Specific brochure illustrations or photo panels of materials would 
assist assessment of these. 

 

Countryside officer 

No objection. 

 The applicant has now submitted amended versions of the 
Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP) and the 

Page 78



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) as requested. 
They provide sufficient information to address the requirements of 
conditions 7, 8 and 9 of the outline consent which can now be 
discharged.  

 
Condition 

 Prior to final occupation the developer shall provide a letter providing 
evidence that all the ecological mitigation measures and 
enhancements in the CEMP have been delivered. 
 

Forestry officer 

No objection. 
Further to previous comments (available online): 

 Plot 8 has been moved approximately 3m further to the north and 
away from the adjacent Walnut (T7). This is probably the minimum 
necessary to provide enough usable garden space without the need to 
prune the tree. This is now satisfactory. 

 The arboricultural assessment recommends managing the group of 
Willow to the south west and I acknowledge that the condition of the 
trees is such that some remedial management is required. This will 
assist in avoiding a conflict with the future occupiers of plots 1, 2 and 
3 but the extent of pruning and a programme for their long- term 
management will need to be agreed in advance. 

 Site specific tree protection measures will be needed but could readily 
be controlled by condition. A tree protection plan that relates to the 
layout will be needed before any work is undertaken on site, 
particularly as the proposal to strip the site for the wildflower meadow 
areas may conflict with the root protection areas of the retained trees. 

 

Landscape officer 

Comments: 

 The play area and hard landscape details shown are acceptable. 
 

 There are still a few issues with regards to planting and boundary 
details. These issues could all be dealt with by condition if required, as 
enough space is available for additional tree planting or substitution of 
boundary details. 

 

 Planting Plans/ Boundary details - The original plans proposed instant 
hedging, this has been changed to close board fencing with an instant 
hedge beside. As these areas face onto publicly accessible spaces, it 
would be expected that these areas are walled. Also, it is difficult to 
maintain a hedge when it is located against a close board fence. In 
this situation we would usually require weldmesh fences adjacent to 
the hedgerow as this allows the hedge to be maintained on both 
sides. The amount of tree planting on the southern edge has 
repeatedly been raised as an issue, to break down the mass of 
development in longer distance views from the south. The tree 
planting on the central and eastern area of the southern boundary 

Page 79



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

should include larger tree species, such as oak and lime planting 
rather than the smaller Crataegus monogyna and replacing some of 
the Acer campestre with larger species. 

 

Housing team 

No objection. 
Recommend the following affordable housing mix: 

  
1 bed 2 bed 3 bed (5 

person) 
3 bed (6 
person) 

Affordable rent  4 7 2 1 

Shared 
ownership 0 3 1 0 
 
     
     

 

Environmental Health - Protection Team (noise) 

No objection. 
 

Environmental Health (air quality) 

No objection. 
 

Environmental Health (contamination) 

No objection. 
 

Waste Management Team 

No objection. 

 Recommend a condition ensuring the bin store for the flats is large 
enough to store the correct number of bins in an appropriate layout. 

 

 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
3.1 Planning applications P17/V2904/RM and P17/V2972/RM relate to two 

alternative proposals for this site, respectively seeking reserved 
matters approval for 50 and 55 dwellings. These applications remain 
undetermined. 
 

3.2 P15/V0343/O - Approved (03/05/2016) 
Residential development for up to 55 dwellings, including site access, 
public open space and landscaping. 
 

3.3 P17/V0226/RM - Withdrawn on 21/04/2017 
Reserved Matters Application following outline approval P15/V0343/O 
for the erection 55 Dwellings. 

 
3.4 P15/V1616/FUL – Appeal dismissed 25/05/2016 

Demolition of redundant agricultural buildings. Erection of 79 affordable 
dwellings and 118 open market dwellings, with associated access 
roads, landscaping and public open space. This application and appeal 
related to land south of Summertown Road, East Hanney. 

Page 80



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT (EIA) 
4.1 The scheme comprises fewer than 150 dwellings on a site under 5ha. 

The site is not in a ‘sensitive area’ defined by the Town and Country 
Planning Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2017. The 
development therefore, does not constitute EIA development.  

 

5.0 MAIN ISSUES 
The main planning considerations relevant to the assessment of this 
application are the reserved matters which are:  

1. Appearance 
2. Landscaping 
3. Layout 
4. Scale 

 
Appearance 

5.1 The site relates to that part of the village on the western side of the 
A338. This part of the village comprises a mix of house types and 
designs of varying ages with no one form dominating. Adjacent to the 
eastern boundary of the site is Dews Meadow comprising a bungalow, 
farm buildings, farm shop and associated parking. To the west are 
dwellings ranging in age from this decade to the 1960’s/70’s. To the 
north west and north are dwellings that appear to be late 19th/early 
20th century. Existing dwellings whilst varying in appearance and size 
do have consistency being rectangular in plan form under pitched 
roofs. Materials vary with red/brown brick, white painted or rendered 
walls and some timber cladding. There is no set pattern of dwelling 
form or arrangement. Housing densities in the village vary. Dwellings 
adjoining the western boundary of the site amount to some 7 dwellings 
per hectare (dph). Development to the immediate north of the site is 
approximately 16dph (gross). There are areas of higher density nearer 
30dph such as the houses and flats close to the Memorial Hall and 
allotments, and east of the A338 but these are not seen in the context 
of this site. 
 

5.2 The NPPF expects efficient use to be made of land although 
development needs to respond to its context. Core policy 23 of the 
Local Plan 2031 Part 1 and the Design Guide seek a minimum density 
of 30dph (net) subject to the character and appearance of an area, 
highway safety and impacts on local residents. The net density 
excludes major elements of supporting uses such as open space, 
community facilities and infrastructure. In this case the net density is 
approximately 32dph. (The gross density is approximately 17.5dph).  
The proposal makes efficient use of the site and responds to its context 
by locating the higher density elements of the scheme to the eastern 
parts of the site which is seen in the context of existing development at 
the village edge namely Dews Meadow and the car parking associated 
with the farm shop. Lower density development is to the western site 
boundary with eight dwellings proposed compared to the seven 
existing dwellings adjoining the western boundary. With the open 

Page 81



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

spaces within the development the character and appearance of the 
proposal is considered to respond to its context. 
 

5.3 The Design Guide 2015 expects the form and massing of new 
dwellings to be kept simple with a rectangular floor plan and pitched 
roof. It does allow more complex forms such as ‘L’ shaped buildings. 
The appearance of the proposed dwellings is considered to comply 
with the Design Guide in having reasonably simple forms with 
rectangular floor plans, pitched roofs and balanced elevations. Some 
houses types have projecting gables or a bay window. Most dwellings 
have a ‘flat’ frontage broken by a lean-to porch. Some ‘L’ shaped 
dwellings are provided. Some of these are used to turn corners with 
side windows providing surveillance of side roads. The proposals 
accord with Design Guide principles DG52 and DG53. 
 

5.4 Proposed materials are red bricks with some rendered and painted 
brick elevations, an artificial cladding to mimic timber cladding and 
artificial stone. Blue/black ‘slate’ and russet coloured tiles are 
proposed. Considering the site adjoins a conservation area timber 
cladding ought to be used rather than an artificial version, as could 
plain tiles (as permitted on a new development adjacent the site). 
Proposed condition 3 seeks to secure appropriate materials. 

 
5.5 A characteristic of East Hanney is the lack of street lighting. A condition 

is recommended to ensure no street lighting is provided. 
 

5.6 Another characteristic of East Hanney is grass verges and ditches 
beside tree lined roads. The proposal seeks to emulate this with a 
central linear green lane and spaces including a swale. Open spaces 
with trees, hedges and other landscaping are proposed to the northern, 
eastern and southern boundaries. The main road into and around the 
site includes conservation kerbs and the use of materials to define 
pedestrian and vehicular spaces. Changes in materials also define the 
hierarchy of roads and junctions. 
 

5.7 Plans showing boundary treatments are contradictory. The boundary 
treatment plan shows the use of some fencing in the public realm and 
weld mesh fencing on the eastern and north western boundaries. The 
landscaping plans suggests planting backed by fencing and planting on 
the eastern and north-western boundaries. In this semi-rural location 
fencing is inappropriate in the public realm, uncharacteristic of this part 
of East Hanney and in conflict with the Design Guide. The boundary 
treatment plan is not approved. A planning condition can secure more 
appropriate boundary treatments which should include hedges, walls 
and railings, and weld mesh fencing with planting. A condition should 
also remove permitted development rights for means of enclosure. 
 

5.8 In summary it is considered appearance accords with core policies 37 
and 38 and the Design Guide, subject to the imposition of conditions. 

 

Page 82



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

Landscaping 
5.9 A detailed landscaping and hard landscaping scheme accompanies the 

application. These include native trees and hedges, meadow planting 
in open spaces and more ornamental plants to the fronts of dwellings. 
Existing trees and hedges are retained and additional hedging 
proposed to fill gaps in existing hedges.  
 

5.10 Hard surfacing materials vary to define road hierarchies, junctions and 
pedestrian areas. These materials include macadam for the main 
entrance from Summertown Road and permeable paving for the 
remainder of the roads with different colours for secondary roads and 
at junctions. 
 

5.11 The landscaping scheme includes details of a play area in the north 
western part of the site. This includes five pieces of play equipment, 
willow tunnels and grass safety matting.  
 

5.12 The landscaping is largely acceptable but there are shortcomings as 
pointed out by the landscape officer. The submitted landscaping details 
and boundary treatment plans are therefore not recommended for 
approval. Conditions requiring a revised landscaping scheme and 
boundary treatments to be submitted for approval are recommended 
instead to address the outstanding points. 

 
Layout 
Affordable housing and housing mix 

5.13 Core policy 22 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 requires a mix of dwelling 
types and sizes to meet the needs of current and future households. 
This should be in accordance with the current Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment (SHMA) unless an alternative approach can be 
demonstrated to be more appropriate through the Housing Register or 
where proven to be necessary due to viability constraints. 
 

5.14 The affordable housing percentage and tenure mix are set in the s106 
agreement accompanying the outline permission. These require 40% 
of the dwellings to be affordable with a tenure mix of 75% rented and 
25% shared ownership. The proposal complies with this. 
 

5.15 The affordable housing mix proposed is the same as that requested by 
the housing team who in accordance with core policy 22 have used the 
housing register to inform current affordable housing need as follows: 

 

No. of 
beds 

 1 2 3 (5 
person) 

3 (6 
person) 

Proposed Rent 4 7 2 1 

S/O 0 3 1 0 

      

Housing 
team 

Rent 4 7 2 1 

S/O 0 3 1 0 

 

Page 83



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

5.16 The affordable housing is distributed across the site in three clusters 
with no cluster exceeding seven dwellings. This is acceptable. The 
affordable housing is indistinguishable from the market dwellings in 
appearance. There is a small courtyard of parking associated with the 
four one-bedroom flats which is not encouraged by the council’s 
housing team. Four of the affordable houses have a single allocated 
parking space compared to the market dwellings which all have two 
allocated parking spaces. These parking arrangements need to be 
balanced against design expectations in the Design Guide and parking 
standards which are considered in the Layout section of this report 
below. 
 

5.17 The proposed market housing unit mix is shown in the table below.  
 

No. of beds 1 2 3 4+ 

Proposed 0 6 9 12 

SHMA 1.5 6 11.5 8 

 
5.18 The NPPG advises that “Establishing future need for housing is not an 

exact science. No single approach will provide a definitive answer”. 
The SHMA text clearly acknowledges this and is equally clear that the 
dwelling mixes it identifies are an estimate of need. The SHMA also 
adds that in applying the estimates to individual sites regard should be 
given to the nature of the development site and character of the area. It 
also recognises that the ‘market’ is to some degree a better judge of 
what is the most appropriate profile of homes to deliver at any point in 
time. The market housing mix needs to be considered against this 
background and market housing mix does not have to be an exact 
match to the SHMA. The applicant advises it has introduced four 
bespoke bungalows to the scheme as a direct response to comments 
received from East Hanney Parish Council. The applicant advises this 
demonstrates that they have sought to address local market needs in 
accordance with the spirit and purpose of Core Policy 22 of the Local 
Plan 2031 Part 1.   
 

5.19 The SHMA is clearly an estimate of housing need and it allows other 
circumstances to be considered including the character of an area and 
the market. The proposed market housing mix is considered by officers 
as reasonably close to the SHMA estimate of housing need and the 
scheme responds positively to the character of housing in the area.  
 

5.20 In these circumstances, officers consider the proposal is acceptable, 
accords with the ambit of core policy 22 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 
and it is not necessary for the applicant to provide a viability 
assessment. 

 
 Layout 
5.21 At the time of resolving to grant the outline permission it was strongly 

anticipated that land to the south of Summertown would be allocated 
for approximately 200 dwellings in the Local Plan 2031 Part 1. 

Page 84



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

However, a planning application proposing housing on that site was 
dismissed at appeal and the proposed allocation of that land was 
removed at the recommendation of the Inspector examining part 1 of 
the Local Plan. The current application site therefore, represents open 
land at the edge of the village. Existing dwellings at the southern edge 
of the village are not prominent in views from the south; open land with 
landscaping dominate current views of this village edge. 
 

5.22 In dismissing the appeal for the land south of Summertown Road 
(application no. P15/V1616/FUL) the Inspector recognised the views 
available from the A338 and advised “When travelling north on the 
A338, the site forms the foreground for the village. The site can be 
seen from the railway to the south”…. “there would be some harm to 
the landscape particularly in local views. While the sensitivity of most 
receptors would be low, as most views would be by travellers on the 
A338, the landscape setting of the village would be harmed when 
viewed from the south”.  
 

5.23 The proposal sets housing back from the Summertown Road edge by 
over 26m at the south eastern corner of the site and over 30m at the 
south western corner of the site. These gaps with open space between 
the houses and Summertown Road and the opportunity for landscaping 
are considered to provide a reasonable landscape setting to the site 
and this extended part of the village, although officers would not wish 
to see this gap reduced. 
 

5.24 The eastern parts of the site are more intensively developed compared 
to other parts of the site. These parts of the site are seen in the context 
of existing development at the village edge namely Dews Meadow and 
the car parking associated with the farm shop. 
 

5.25 The proposal provides lower density development to the western site 
boundary with eight dwellings proposed compared to the seven 
existing dwellings adjoining the western boundary. With two exceptions 
the proposal provides connected streets with dwellings facing them. 
The proposal seeks to emulate some of the lanes in East Hanney 
through providing landscaping and open spaces including swales. 
Public open spaces exceed 15% as required by saved policy H23 of 
the Local Plan 2011. The public open spaces are at the edges of the 
site and include an acceptable area of play with play equipment.  
 

5.26 Parking is largely set to the sides of dwellings although there is a single 
area of overlooked courtyard parking which the Design Guide can 
permit provided on-street and on-plot solutions have been exhausted, 
they are small in scale, immediately adjacent to properties and 
naturally surveyed. The small area of courtyard parking is considered 
to pass these tests. Visitor parking is at the cusp of beginning to affect 
the character and appearance of the streets and intrude in to open 
spaces but overall parking is not considered to dominate the streets. 
Dwellings turn corners by providing windows on the two street 

Page 85



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

elevations. Other dwellings create focal points and visual stops. This 
provides continuity, enclosure, legibility and landmarks. 
 

5.27 The eastern half of the site contains the most intensive parts of the 
development. These areas are visually contained within the 
development and less publicly visible. The southern and western edges 
of the site have lower density development, and in the case of the 
southern boundary, a reasonable open space buffer. These lower 
densities and the buffer are considered reasonable in the context of 
public views from the south as referenced by the Planning Inspector, 
and in the setting of the conservation area. 
 

5.28 The proposal is considered to comply with the adopted Design Guide 
and core policies 37, 38 and 44 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1. 
 
Residential Amenity 

5.29 The Design Guide recommends a minimum distance of 21m between 
facing habitable windows to prevent unreasonable overlooking. All the 
proposed dwellings are over 30m from existing dwellings, and even 
with the changes in floor levels proposed (approximately between 
400mm and 1,000mm above existing ground levels), the relationship to 
existing dwellings is acceptable. 
 

5.30 It is noted that a neighbour is dissatisfied with mesh fencing proposed 
on the western boundary. Planting is now shown on this boundary. 
 

5.31 A noise assessment accompanies the application and concludes noise 
from the A338 can be mitigated by appropriate glazing to ensure future 
living conditions are not unreasonably affected. The environmental 
protection team comment on the issue of vibration. They advise that 
they have not received any complaints and consider vibration from the 
A338 is unlikely to exceed vibration limits and they would be surprised 
if it were a significant problem. 
 

5.32 The proposal is considered to accord with saved policies DC9 and 
DC10 of the Local Plan 2011. 
 
Drainage 

5.33 Both foul and surface water drainage are subject to conditions on the 
outline permission which will need to be complied with outside this 
application. The applicant has provided a Thames Water assessment 
of the foul sewerage network which concludes there is adequate 
capacity for the development. This is confirmed by Thames Water in 
their consultation response. 
 

5.34 Local residents and the Parish Council reference flooding incidents in 
the village, subterranean water flows and the high water table on site. I 
notice the site does pool water in the furrows in winter and after periods 
of heavy rainfall. I am also aware of flood events in the village. The 
applicant has provided an updated Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and 

Page 86



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

drainage strategy and sought to address drainage comments from the 
council’s drainage engineers. The surface water drainage scheme 
comprises a mix of an attenuation basin, swales and cellular storage 
and permeable surfaces.  It aims to reduce run-off from the site to 5 
litres per second (l/s) from the existing run-off rate of some 8l/s. 
Surface water will be released from the attenuation basin to a ditch at 
the north eastern boundary of the site which in turn runs northwards 
beside the A338 into and through an area part of land in flood zone 2. 
 

5.35 The council’s drainage engineer who is aware of the high water table 
and flood occurrences in the village has no objection.  

 
Historic Environment 

5.36 The north western part of the site adjoins the larger of the two East 
Hanney conservation areas. I have given considerable importance and 
weight to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the setting of the 
conservation area. The applicant has reduced ridge heights of the 
dwellings and I note the conservation officer advises this helps 
assimilate the proposals into the setting of the conservation area. The 
proposal is considered compliant with saved policy HE1 of the Local 
Plan 2011. 

 
Biodiversity 

5.37 A tree on the southern boundary of the site accommodated an owl 
roosting/nesting box but this has since become detached from the tree 
and is no longer on site. Some local residents advise the site is still 
used by barn owl. Likewise bats forage on site although foraging is 
likely to be contained close to and along the boundary edges where 
there are trees and hedges. The proposal includes a building in the 
north eastern part of the site which will provide a bat and barn owl 
roost. I note the council’s countryside officer is satisfied with the 
scheme in that it provides a reasonable opportunity for biodiversity 
enhancement in accordance with core policy 46 of the Local Plan 2031 
Part 1. 
 
Parking 

5.38 All the market dwellings are allocated at least two on plot parking 
spaces. Eight of the affordable dwellings are allocated one parking 
space. The parking standards allow a reduction in allocated parking to 
one space per dwelling provided an appropriate amount of unallocated 
parking is provided. In this case the parking standards require eighteen 
unallocated parking spaces; the proposal provides 20. The parking 
proposed accords with adopted parking standards and is acceptable. 

 
Scale 

5.39 The definition of scale in the NPPG relates to the height, width and 
length of each building proposed within the development in relation to 
its surroundings. The applicant has revised the scale of the house 
types since the first submission by reducing heights.  
 

Page 87



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

5.40 Dwellings in the village vary in scale. Existing houses adjacent to the 
western boundary of the site range in height from 7m (Leider) to 9.1m 
(Lakeside). Lakeside a house permitted in 2012, is an exception with 
most of the houses adjacent to the western boundary being 7m to 7.5m 
to ridge. The dwellings proposed adjacent to the western boundary are 
between 8m and 8.8m to ridge plus they are proposed some 600mm to 
840mm above existing ground levels.  
 

5.41 The scale of the dwellings will be publicly noticeable from Summertown 
Road and the A338 in views from the south and east but not so readily 
against existing houses to the west which are well hidden in current 
views especially from the A338. The proposals will be publicly seen 
from the footpath adjacent to the northern boundary of the site and 
from within the site itself once developed. In both cases they are not 
seen readily in the context of adjacent houses. On balance the 
proposals are considered compliant with the Design Guide and core 
policies 37 and 38 of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 in terms of scale. 

 

6.0 CONCLUSION 
6.1 This application has been considered in accordance with the 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
  

6.2 The principle of housing development on this site and means of access 
to it have already been permitted through the grant of outline planning 
permission. This is not an opportunity to reconsider these matters. 
Drainage is the subject of a planning condition on the outline 
application and will be fully considered as part of the application(s) to 
approve matters reserved by condition. Nonetheless, the applicant has 
sought to demonstrate that the development can be adequately 
drained to prevent a worsening of flood events. This council’s drainage 
officer does not object. 
 

6.3 This application for reserved matters approval. The council is only 
considering the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the 
development. 
 

6.4 The NPPF encourages efficient use of land while safeguarding and 
improving the environment. Core policies 37 and 38 and the adopted 
Design Guide all encourage good design. 
 

6.5 The appearance of the proposals is considered reasonable with the 
proposed dwelling designs being reasonably consistent with the 
dwelling types existing in this part of the village. Proposed materials 
are not wholly acceptable but can be made acceptable by planning 
condition. 
 

6.6 The net density of development accords with the core policy 23 of the 
Local Plan 2031 Part 1 whilst responding to its context with lower 
density development adjoining the southern and western boundaries 
with the higher densities within the confines of the site. 

Page 88



Vale of White Horse District Council –  Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

 
6.7 The proposed layout provides road connections within it and pedestrian 

links to the north and south east. Dwellings front the road and provide 
focal points. A centrally located ‘green’ corridor with grass verges and a 
swale is proposed. Open spaces and landscaping form the north, 
eastern and southern edges to the site. The open space on the 
southern boundary which can be adapted to contain more tree planting, 
is considered reasonable and able to soften views of the development 
from the south.  Adequate car parking is proposed to meet standards. 
Affordable housing amounts to 40% of the dwellings being more than 
required by the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 but according with policy 
expectations at the time of the outline permission being granted. 
 

6.8 The scale of development is considered acceptable in its context. 
 

6.9 The proposal is considered to accord with the development plan and in 
accordance with paragraph 11c) of the NPPF the application can be 
approved as it amounts to sustainable development. 

 
 
The following planning policies have been taken into account: 
VALE OF WHITE HORSE LOCAL PLAN 2011 – SAVED POLICIES DC3, 
DC5, DC6, DC7, DC9, DC12, DC20, H23, HE1, HE9, HE10, HE11, NE9 
 
VALE OF WHITE HORSE LOCAL PLAN 2031: PART 1 – CORE POLICIES 1, 
8, 22, 23, 24, 33, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46. 
 
PUBLICATION DRAFT VALE OF WHITE HORSE LOCAL PLAN 2031: PART 
2 – DRAFT POLICIES DP2, DP16, DP21, DP23, DP25, DP26, DP27, DP28, 
DP33, DP36, DP37, DP39 
 
VALE OF WHITE HORSE DESIGN GUIDE 2015 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK (NPPF) 2018 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING PRACTICE GUIDANCE (NPPG) 
 
PLANNING (LISTED BUILDINGS AND CONSERVATION AREAS) ACT 1990 
 
 
Case Officer – Adrian Butler 
Email – adrian.butler@southandvale.gov.uk 
Tel – (01235) 422600 

Page 89



SB

S

H

E

D

C

O

N

T

A

I

N

E

R

SB

6

3

.

8

7

1

FL63.287

M

A

I

N

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

Robey House

Waylands

View

Tamarisk

Cottage

Cottage

62.8m

Borley Bank

S

U

M

M

E

R

T

O

W

N

T

H

E

 

M

U

L

B

E

R

R

I

E

S

64.8m

Ley Cottages

The

Half Acre

Barn

Morus House

6

Downs

Lay House

Cottage

Laburnum

The Mulberries

Orchard Bank

Lakeside

B

R

A

M

L

E

Y

 
C

L

O

S

E

Gilberts

Pond

4

63.2m

2

3

Croft

Leider Mill

B

r

a

m

l

e

y

 

H

o

u

s

e

Downside

63.8m

Y

e

w

 

H

e

d

g

e

63.1m

D

r

a

i

n

D

r

a

i

n

GP

Sunset Strip

P

a

t
h

 
(
u

m

)

Cottage

Lay

FL63.257

H

E

D

G

E

6

3

.

0

8

0

6

3

.

3

0

4

S

H

E

D

C

O

N

T

A

I

N

E

R

01

02

03

04

05

06

07

08

34

33

32

35

26

25

24

23

29

28

27

15

14

13

12

11

10

09

19-22

16

17

18

30

31

KC2

D1

D1

KC2

J

KC2

KC2

D2

A2

X2

X

X

X

KC2

KC2

KC2

KC2

J

J

Y

W

K

K

B

J

B

D2

Y

Z

01

02

03

04

05
06

07

08

34

35

23

32

33

30

V

31

29

28

27

26

26

25

25

24

16

16

17

17

18

VV

09

10

19

20

21

22

V

V

11

12

13

14

15

X

X

X

C

/

S

B

/

S

P.O.S

Barn Owl &

Bat Building

V

V

V

V

18

V

45

44

43

42

41

40

38

37

Y

D1

D1

D1

X

X

41

40

42

43

44

45

41

40

43

44

42

V

32

33

35

23

34

V

V

V

V

V

V

V

39

36

A2

A2

A2

39

39

36

36

37

37

38

38

V

V

V

24

Footpath link with lockable gate as

discussed with Dews Meadow Farm Shop

X2

b

c

p

b
c
p

b

c

p

STATUS:

DATE:SCALE @ A1:

CHECKED:DRAWN BY: DWG No:

REV:JOB REF:

PLANNING RS

C3554(A)

RW

1:500 OCT17

P001

F
TITLE:

PROJECT:For guidance only. Do not scale off this drawing

1:20  -

5m4m
400mm

3m
300mm

2m
200mm

1m
100mm

20001800160014001200800mm600mm400mm200mm0
9m 10m1m 2m 3m 4m 5m 6m 7m 8m

1000
1:100-

1:50 -
1:5   - 500mm

Revisions:Notes:DESIGN LAYOUTS SHOULD BE USED FOR
Fence types and positions
Private slabbing paths and patios
Drive positions and materials
House types, position & handing

DESIGN LAYOUTS SHOULD NOT BE USED
FOR
Street lighting and other furniture/signage
Clearance of existing vegetation
Soft landscaping works

Summertown, East Hanney
45 Unit Scheme

Planning Layout

A - Footpath alignment adjacent to POS amended. Footpath link added opp. plot 40. Footpath alignment amended opp. plot 27. CM 16.11.17

B - Barn Owl and Bat Building Added. RW 18.12.17

C - Layout amended following consultee comments. RW 16.03.17

D - Road detail amended following meeting with Highways. RW 04.04.18

E  - Minor amendments following meeting with VOWHDC. RW 03.05.18

F - BCP's added, Cycle shed added to plots without garages as requested by OCC. Plot 32 amended from Y to X type, plot 39 amended from Z to X2 type in line with agreed Affordable

Housing mix. RW 13.06.18

bcp

Key

Bin Collection Point

Cycle Shed to plots without 

garages. All other plots cycle

storage within garage.

Appendix 1

P
age 90

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
Cycle Shed

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
SEE LANDSCAPING DRAWINGS FOR DETAILS  OF HARD SURFACING AND SOFT WORKS. FOR BOUNDARY TREATMENTS SEE SEPARATE PLAN.

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
Cycle Shed



S

u

m

m

e

r
t
o

w

n

 
R

o

a

d

A

3

3

8

Application boundary

19/10/2017200 -

m 10 20 30 40

1:500 @ A1 / 1:1000 @ A3

50

Tyndall House

17 Whiteladies Road,

Clifton,Bristol,

BS8 1PB

0117 980 4900

www.origin3.co.uk

info@origin3.co.uk

proj: drg: rev:date:

© This drawing and the building works depicted are the copyright of Origin 3 Ltd and may not

be reproduced or amended except by written permission.  No liability will be accepted for

amendments made by other persons.

Sketch proposals are for illustrative purposes only & as such are subject to detailed site

investigation including ground conditions/contaminants, drainage, design & planning/density 

negotiations. Sketch proposals may be based upon enlargements of OS sheets & visual 

estimations of existing site features, accuracy will therefore need to be verified by survey.

© Ordnance survey materials used with the permission of The controller of HMSO, crown copyright 100020449.

17-054

BOVIS HOMES

EAST HANNEY

W:\PLANNING\17-054 East Hanney\Urban Design\3 Drawings & Images\2 Drawings in Progress\CAD\17065_200_Application boundary.dwg

Tyndall House

17 Whiteladies Road,

Clifton,Bristol,

BS8 1PB

0117 980 4900

www.origin3.co.uk

info@origin3.co.uk

proj: drg: rev:date:

© This drawing and the building works depicted are the copyright of Origin 3 Ltd and may not

be reproduced or amended except by written permission.  No liability will be accepted for

amendments made by other persons.

Sketch proposals are for illustrative purposes only & as such are subject to detailed site

investigation including ground conditions/contaminants, drainage, design & planning/density 

negotiations. Sketch proposals may be based upon enlargements of OS sheets & visual 

estimations of existing site features, accuracy will therefore need to be verified by survey.

© Ordnance survey materials used with the permission of The controller of HMSO, crown copyright 100020449.

17-054

BOVIS HOMES

EAST HANNEY

P
age 91



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P18/V1198/FUL 
 SITE 27 Ormond Road Wantage, OX12 8DZ 
 PARISH WANTAGE 
 PROPOSAL Erection of a single storey rear extension and 

detached outbuilding, with subdivision to form 
four self-contained residential units 

 WARD MEMBER(S) Charlotte Dickson 
St John Dickson 

 APPLICANT Mr M Castle 
 OFFICER Martin Deans 
 

 
 RECOMMENDATION 
 It is recommended that authority to grant or refuse planning permission is 

delegated to the Head of Planning subject to the completion of a section 
106 obligation to satisfactorily provide and safeguard four parking spaces 
with pedestrian access on the land to the south of the application site; and 
also then subject to the following conditions: 
 
Standard: 

 1. Commencement in three years. 
2. Approved plans. 

 
Prior to commencement: 

3. Details of tree protection and an arboricultural method statement for 
construction. 

 
Prior to occupation: 

4. Materials in accordance with approved details. 
5. Cycle and bin stores provided. 
6. Visitor parking space provided. 
7. Surface water drainage in accordance with approved details. 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application comes to committee at the request of one of the ward 

councillors, St John Dickson. The site is a semi-detached, 3-bedroom house 
on Ormond Road in a residential part of Wantage. Planning permission was 
granted in 2017 for the construction of a single storey extension to the house 
and the construction of a double garage at the end of the rear garden (ref 
P16/V2861/HH). 
 

1.2 In February 2018 a planning application was made to convert the house, with 
its permitted but unimplemented extension and garage, to four 1-bedroom flats 
(ref P18/V0517/FUL). The proposal included the provision of four parking 
spaces for the flats on the site immediately to the south, which is also owned 
by the applicant and has separate planning permission to be re-developed to 
provide five houses and three flats with 21 parking spaces with access from 
Trinder Road (ref P16/V2394/FUL). A pedestrian route from the site to the 

Page 92

Agenda Item 11

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V1198/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

south into 27 Ormond Road was shown. The application was refused in April 
2018 for the reason of lack of on-site parking due to the absence of a suitable 
mechanism to ensure that the four parking spaces on the site to the south 
could be provided and safeguarded. 
 

1.3 The new application is for the same proposal but with the option that a section 
106 obligation is used to provide and secure the four parking spaces on the 
site to the south. As in the previous application, the house will be converted to 
two flats, the approved single storey extension to one flat, and the approved 
double garage to one flat. A covered bin and cycle store will be built to the 
east side of the house and a garden of approximately 110 sq.m will be laid out. 
One on-site parking space for visitors will be provided, and four parking 
spaces on the site to the south with a pedestrian link. A site location plan is 
below, and the application drawings are attached at appendix 1, including the 
approved block plan for the site to the south. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 93



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
 

2.1 Wantage Town 
Council 

Object due to worsening traffic pressure on the narrow 
Trinder Road 
 

Neighbours 
 

2 households have written with objections on the following 
grounds: 

 It will increase traffic problems on Trinder Road 

 Loss of privacy 

 Noise and fumes from vehicles 

 Potential overdevelopment 
 

County 
Highways 
Officer 

No objection subject to section 106 obligation to provide 
parking 
 

Drainage Officer No objections 
 

Waste Officer No objection subject to bin store being provided as shown 
 

Forestry Officer No objection subject to conditions to protect mature birch 
tree beyond the western boundary of the site 

 

 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

3.1 P18/V0517/FUL - Refused (01/05/2018) 
Erection of a single storey rear extension and detached outbuilding, with 
subdivision to form four self-contained residential units.(as amended by 
drawings received 28 March 2018). 
 
P17/V1968/PEM - Other Outcome (04/10/2017) 
Remodel of 27 Ormond Road to form 6 apartments. 
 
P17/V1676/NM - Approved (29/06/2017) 
Non material amendment to application ref. P16/V2861/HH - garden 
landscaping, fenestration and internal layout 
 
Single storey rear extension and double garage (additional information 
received on 9 December 20116; parking and turning details). 
 
P17/V1397/NM - Approved (05/06/2017) 
Non material amendment to application ref. P16/V2861/HH - amendment to 
fenestration and internal layout wholly contained within approved footprint and 
structure. 
 
Single storey rear extension and double garage 
 
P16/V2861/HH - Approved (03/01/2017) 
Single story rear extension and double garage (additional informaiton received 
on 9 december 20116; parking and turning details). 
 

Page 94

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V0517/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/V1968/PEM
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/V1676/NM
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P17/V1397/NM
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/V2861/HH


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

P16/V2324/PD - Other Outcome (27/09/2016) 
Extension (single storey) and garage 
 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

4.1 The proposal is too small in scale to require and EIA. 
 
5.0 
5.1 

MAIN ISSUES 
The main issues are considered to be: 
 

 The principle of the proposal 

 The impact on the character and appearance of the area 

 The impact on neighbours 

 The impact on traffic and highway safety 

 The Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

5.2 The Principle of the Proposal 
The site lies within the built limits of Wantage, one of the largest settlements in 
the Vale. Therefore, the principle of increasing the number of residential units 
on the site is acceptable under policies CP3 and CP4 of the adopted Local 
Plan 2031 Part 1. 
 

5.3 The Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 
The built form of the single storey extension and the double garage has been 
approved. In consequence the impact of these structures on the character and 
appearance of the area is considered to be acceptable. 
 

5.4 Government planning policy supports the creation of mixed and inclusive 
communities, with mixed types of dwelling and tenure. In this context officers 
consider the change from one house to four 1-bedroom flats is not 
objectionable in itself, unless there is evidence of a lack of amenity area or 
parking, or of an unreasonable impact on neighbours. The proposal includes a 
garden area that is adequate for four 1-bedroom flats and a mechanism to 
secure parking which will be examined further below. The likely impact on 
neighbours will also be examined below. 
 

5.5 The Impact on Neighbours 
As the built form has already been approved, officers consider the physical 
impact of the proposal on neighbours is acceptable. In terms of the intended 
use of the site, the flats are likely to appeal to single persons or couples. 
Officers are mindful that the government allow, through permitted development 
rights, a house to be used for occupation by up to 6 individual and unrelated 
persons without the need for planning permission. Viewed in this context, 
officers consider that the scale of the proposal is unlikely to lead to an effect on 
local residential amenity from noise and other forms of disturbance that would 
lead to planning harm. Overall, therefore, it is considered the proposal accords 
with policy DC9 of the adopted Local Plan 2011. 
 

5.6 The Impact on Traffic and Highway Safety 
The main change from the previous application is the proposal to use a section 

Page 95

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/V2324/PD


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

106 obligation to secure four parking spaces on the site to the south to serve 
the proposed flats. One parking space for each flat would meet adopted 
standards for one-bedroom flats. The site to the south has planning permission 
to be developed for five 3-bedroom houses and three 1-bedroom flats, with 21 
parking spaces. The level of development would require two parking spaces for 
each house and one parking space for each flat, making a total of 13 spaces. If 
four of the remaining eight spaces were allocated to 27 Ormond Road (one 
space per flat), this would leave four spaces to serve for visitor parking for the 
eight dwellings permitted on the site to the south. 
 

5.7 The county highways officer is well aware of the parking and congestion 
problems on the adjacent Trinder Road and, during all the planning 
applications on the site to the south, has sought a parking ratio to enable visitor 
parking over and above the standards for on-site parking. He also has to be 
mindful of the relative sustainability of Wantage as a settlement, and national 
advice in the NPPF that development should only be refused on the grounds of 
network capacity if the resultant impact is “severe”. In this light he considers 
that four visitor spaces to serve the site to the south is acceptable to avoid a 
severe impact on Trinder Road. This means that four of the spaces can be 
allocated to the application proposal on 27 Ormond Road, subject to a 
satisfactory mechanism to ensure this parking is secured and subject to a 
direct pedestrian link from the site to 27 Ormond Road. 
 

5.8 The council’s solicitor has confirmed that a section 106 obligation can be used 
to secure the four parking spaces on the site to the south during its own re-
development. A direct pedestrian link can also be secured. On this basis, 
officers are content that the parking for 27 Ormond Road can be provided on 
the site to the south. There will also be one visitor parking space on the site of 
27 Ormond Road. In conclusion, therefore, the proposal is now considered to 
be acceptable in terms of traffic, parking and highway safety. 
 

5.9 Community Infrastructure Levy 
In accordance with the council’s adopted CIL charging schedule, CIL does not 
apply to the sub-division of a dwelling to create two or more dwellings, provided 
there is no increase in floorspace. In this case there will be no increase on the 
floorspace for the dwelling and garage which was permitted in January 2017 
and which pre-dates the introduction of CIL in November 2017. Therefore, the 
proposal does not attract a CIL charge. 

 
6.0 CONCLUSION 

6.1 The proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of its impact on the 
character and appearance of the area and its impact on neighbours. With the 
proposed section 106 obligation it is considered that parking for the proposal 
can be secured. In consequence the proposal is considered to accord with 
relevant policies of the development plan and with the NPPF. 

 
 The following planning policies and national guidance have been taken into 

account: 
 
 

Page 96



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1, policies: 
CP3, CP4, CP37 
 
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011, saved policies: 
DC5, DC7, DC9 
 
Draft Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2, policies: 
DP16, DP23, DP28 
 
(Little weight can be attached to these policies at this time due to the relatively 
early stage the plan has reached so far in the adoption process) 
 
Design Guide, 2015 
 
National Planning Policy Framework, 2018 
 
Planning Practise Guidance, 2014 
 
Equalities Act 2010 
The application has been assessed in relation to section 149 of the Equalities 
Act 2010. Officers consider no identified group will suffer discrimination as a 
result of the proposal. 
 
Human Rights Act 1998 
The application has been assessed against Articles 1 and 8 of the Human 
Rights Convention. The impact on individuals has been balanced against the 
public interest and officers consider the recommendation to be proportionate. 
 
Author                  Martin Deans 
Email                    martin.deans@southandvale.gov.uk 
Contact                01235 422600 

  
  
 

Page 97



Communal
amenity space

Recycling and

 Bin store

Covered
Sheffield
Bicycle racks

Parking for 27

Parking for 27

Parking for 27

Parkin
g for 27

Parking for 27 (V)
date:

rev:

client:

checked:drawn:

project title:

scale:

drawing title:

file reference:

sheet size:

Mr M J Castle

27 Ormond Road

Wantage

Site Layout Proposed

1:500 A3 MJC Jan 2018

011 D

CLIENTdrawing number:

-- -

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION

A 27/3/18 As Per Case Officer Request

-- -

B 10/4/18 As Per Highways Request.

C 11/4/18 Parking Unallocated.

D 12/4/18 As Per Case Officer Request. (Red Line)

Appendix 1

P
age 98

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
8a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
Green

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
96.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
Saddlings

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
TRINDER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
Guild

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
1-12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
ORMOND ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
Charter

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
Brookmead

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
Tiles

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
Milestones

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
CASTLE COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
A-B

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
V

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
V



Proposed Front
Elevation

Proposed Rear
Elevation

Proposed Side
Elevation

Proposed covered cycle
racks & recycling storage
shed Elevations

dpc

4 x 180L (RF)
4 x 240L (RC)
4 x Food Caddy

Proposed covered cycle
racks & recycling storage
shed Plan

Proposed covered cycle
racks & recycling storage
shed Roof Plan

date:

rev:

client:

checked:drawn:

project title:

scale:

drawing title:

file reference:

sheet size:

Mr M J Castle

27 Ormond Road

Wantage

Proposed Elevations & Plans

1:100 A3 MJC Jan 2018

003 B

CLIENTdrawing number:

A 27/3/18 As Per Case Officer Request

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION

B 09/4/18 Covered Cycle Racks As Per Highways Request

P
age 99



Proposed Roof

dpc

Proposed Ground Floor

W.C

Kitchen

Proposed First Floor
glazed bi-fold doors

Tax Windows Tax Windows

High level roof windows
sill height more than
1.7meters above floor
level

Dining

Lounge

E/S

Cupboard

Party Wall

Party Wall

Party WallParty Wall

Vaulted celing area Vaulted celing area

Proposed ElevationProposed ElevationProposed ElevationProposed Elevation

date:

rev:

client:

checked:drawn:

project title:

scale:

drawing title:

file reference:

sheet size:

Mr M J Castle

27 Ormond Road

Wantage

Proposed Elevations and Plans

1:100 A3 MJC Jan 2018

005 A

CLIENTdrawing number:

---

A 27/3/18 As Per Case Officer Request

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION

P
age 100



BedroomWC

Kitchen

Lounge

First Floor Second Floor

Bedroom

LOUNGE

BEDROOM

Ground Floor

Service

27b

2
7

a

27c

Lounge

Kitchen

W.C

 Roof

Kitchen

Proposed Proposed Proposed Proposed

meters

Bath

Cupboard

date:

rev:

client:

checked:drawn:

project title:

scale:

drawing title:

file reference:

sheet size:

Mr M J Castle

27 Ormond Road

Wantage

Proposed Plans

1:100 A3 MJC Jan 2018

007 A

CLIENTdrawing number:

---

A 27/3/18 As Per Case Officer Request

REV. DATE DESCRIPTION

P
age 101



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report  – 22 August 2018 

 

 

 APPLICATION NO. P18/V0891/FUL 

 SITE 59 Faringdon Road Stanford In The Vale 
Faringdon, SN7 8NN 

 PARISH STANFORD IN THE VALE 

 PROPOSAL Proposed new dwelling and garage on land 
adjacent to 59 Faringdon Road. 

 WARD MEMBER(S) Robert Sharp 

 APPLICANT Mr & Mrs R. Plumridge 

 OFFICER Martin Deans 

 

 
 RECOMMENDATION 
 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions: 

 
Standard: 

 1. Commencement three years. 
2. Approved plans. 

 
Prior to commencement: 

3. Materials for house, garage and wall. 
4. Contamination assessment. 
5. Details of tree retention and protection. 
6. Details of wall foundations. 
7. Landscaping scheme and maintenance plan. 

 
Prior to occupation: 

8. Access modified as shown on approved plans. 
9. Parking and turning provided as plan. 
10. Acoustic treatment of house in accordance with details to be 

submitted. 
11. High level rooflights installed as approved. 
12. First floor bathroom window to be obscure glazed. 
13. New wall and landscaping implemented and maintained. 
14. Surface water drainage implemented in accordance with approved 

details. 
 
Compliance: 

15. Permitted development rights removed for rear extensions and 
upper floor windows and rooflights. 

16. Garage retained for parking. 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application comes to committee at the request of the local member, 

Robert Sharp. The application site is the side garden of an existing house, 
no.59 Faringdon Road. The site lies at the north-west corner of the traffic 
island at the junction of Faringdon Road, Ware Road, and Farm Piece. 
Currently the site is laid to lawn, with several semi-mature coniferous and 

Page 102

Agenda Item 12

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V0891/FUL


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report  – 22 August 2018 

deciduous trees near to Ware Road, and a 2m high close boarded fence 
fronting Faringdon Road and Ware Road. 
 

1.2 The context for the site has changed significantly in recent years. To the 
south, on the other side of Ware Road, lies the recently constructed Nursery 
End housing development allowed on appeal in 2014.To the west and north 
lies the strategic housing allocation proposed in the Local Plan 2031 Part 1, 
part of which has outline planning permission under reference P16/V2134/O. 
To the east is the housing development of 120 houses completed in the early 
2000’s served from Farm Piece. 
 

1.3 The proposal is to erect a two storey, six-bedroom house on the site with a 
detached garage. The existing vehicular access to no.59 would be widened to 
serve both dwellings, and a turning area provided. Following discussions, the 
applicant has agreed to replace the existing close boarded boundary fence, 
which is deteriorating, with a new artificial stone wall, 2m high, and set back 
slightly into the site to allow for new planting in front. With regard to the 
existing semi-mature trees on Ware Road the conifers will be removed and the 
deciduous trees retained. The wall foundations would be designed with 
bridging elements to allow for the trees to be retained. A site location plan is 
below and the application plans are attached at appendix 1. 
 

 

Page 103



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report  – 22 August 2018 

2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 
 

2.1 Stanford-in-the-
Vale Parish 
Council 

Object on the following grounds: 

 Height and scale are inappropriate and 
overbearing 

 This is an edge of village site and the proposal 
will only serve to urbanise the area 

 Traffic noise, which will increase due to the 
strategic housing allocation 

 

Neighbours One household has submitted an objection on the 
following grounds: 

 The proposal is too big for the site 

 The access onto Faringdon Road in close 
proximity to Ware Road will be dangerous 

 

County Highways 
Officer 

No objection subject to conditions 
 

Environmental 
Protection Team 

No objection subject to a scheme of noise insulation for 
the new house 
 

Contamination 
Officer 

No objection subject to preliminary contamination 
assessment 
 

Drainage Office No objection subject to conditions 
 

 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

3.1 P18/V0307/PEM (19/03/2018) 
Proposed new dwelling on land adjacent to 59 Faringdon Road 
 
P03/V0559/O - Refused (02/05/2003) - Appeal dismissed (02/03/2004) 
Erection of a detached dwelling and garage. 
 
P82/V0853 - Approved (03/03/1982) 
Erection of a double garage and new highway access. 
 
P81/V0917 - Approved (21/10/1981) 
Modernisation and extension of existing cottages. 
 

3.2 Pre-application History 
A pre-application submission for one dwelling on the site was considered in 
March 2018 (ref P18/V0307/PEM). The officer response was that, given the 
context, the proposal could be acceptable in principle but that the site 
constraints in terms of road noise, trees and a safe access needed to be 
addressed. 
 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

4.1 The development is relatively small in scale and does not qualify for an EIA. 
 

Page 104

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V0307/PEM
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P03/V0559/O
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P82/V0853
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P81/V0917


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report  – 22 August 2018 

5.0 MAIN ISSUES 
5.1 The main issues with regard to this application are: 

 

 The principle of the proposal 

 The impact on the character and appearance of the area 

 The quality of amenity for future occupiers 

 The impact on neighbours 

 Highway safety 

 Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

5.2 The Principle of the Proposal 
The recent changes to the context of the site are directly relevant to how the 
principle of the proposal is now viewed by officers. The site is effectively 
surrounded by either recently completed housing or housing that is due to be 
built. Consequently, officers consider that the site lies within the built-up area of 
Stanford-in-the-Vale and the principle of development is therefore acceptable in 
terms of policies CP3 and CP4 of the adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1. 
 

5.3 The Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area 
The proposal is for a two storey house with rooms in the roof served by dormer 
windows. The eaves of the proposed house are approximately 5m high and the 
ridge is approximately 9m high. These values are typical of many modern two 
storey houses across the Vale. 
 

5.4 The site is surrounded by modern housing, much of which is of a similar height 
and scale. The parish council objections include a concern that the site is “edge 
of village” and that the proposal is too high. Officers consider that the changes 
to the context of the site mean it can be no longer considered edge of village, 
and that the proposal is in keeping with the scale and height of much of the 
housing around it. 
 

5.5 The proposal includes a new artificial stone wall with planting in front of it. Over 
time this will mirror the boundary treatment on Farm Piece development 
opposite, which is visually attractive. For these reasons, officers consider the 
impact on the character and appearance of the area to be acceptable and the 
proposal complies with policy CP37 of the adopted Local Plan 2031 Part 1. 
 

5.6 The Quality of Amenity for Future Occupants 
The site lies at the junction of Faringdon Road and Ware Road, and the issue 
of road traffic noise was raised at pre-application stage. Objectors are also 
concerned about the noise environment. The council’s environmental health 
officer has carefully assessed the proposal. He considers the new house can 
be acoustically treated to provide a satisfactory environment within, and the 
proposal includes a new 2m high artificial stone wall which will, as with the 
Farm Piece houses opposite, provide protection for the garden. Given the 
presence of the traffic island, vehicle speeds in the vicinity are likely to be low, 
which means road noise will be relatively lower than on faster sections of road. 
Taken all together officers consider the proposed arrangements, with suitable 
conditions, will provide a satisfactory noise environment for future occupiers. 
 

Page 105



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report  – 22 August 2018 

5.7 There is a total of approximately 200sq.m of garden for the new house which 
meets the suggested standard in the design guide. The principal garden area 
will be to the side of the new house. To safeguard the garden area to the rear 
of the house officers recommend that permitted development rights for rear 
extensions are removed so that any future proposal for a rear extension can be 
assessed. 
 

5.8 The Impact on Neighbours 
The neighbours who are potentially most affected are the residents of the 
existing dwelling at no.59, and those in the proposed dwellings to the rear on 
the allocated housing site. With regard to the former the proposed dwelling has 
been sited approximately 10m from the boundary with no.59, and 20m from the 
side wall of no.59. These distances will prevent any harm arising to the 
occupants of no.59. 
 

5.9 With regard to the houses to be built to the rear, the proposal has been 
carefully designed so there will be no principal windows at first floor level facing 
towards the rear, and only high-level rooflights in the roof. This will avoid any 
potential for harm from overlooking and can be secured for the future by the 
removal of permitted development rights for new upper floor windows or 
rooflights on the rear elevation. Overall, therefore, officers are satisfied there 
will be no harm to neighbours and that the application complies with policy DC9 
of the adopted Local Plan 2011. 
 

5.10 Highway Safety 
The existing vehicular access is to be widened to allow for use by both the 
existing and proposed dwelling. The county highways officer has carefully 
assessed the proposal in light its proximity to the traffic island and considers 
that, provided suitable visibility and turning space is provided, the access will 
be sufficiently far from the island to be safe. There will be adequate on-site 
parking for the proposal and it is suggested that the garage is secured for 
parking by way of condition. Consequently, officers consider the proposal is in 
accord with policy DC5 of the adopted Local Plan 2011. 
 

5.11 Community Infrastructure Levy 
The proposal for a new dwelling is CIL liable and a charge of £28,104.34 has 
been calculated at 2018 rates. 
 

6.0 CONCLUSION 

6.1 The proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of its impact on the wider 
area and its impact on neighbours. A satisfactory environment for future 
occupiers can be provided and the proposed access arrangements are 
considered to be safe. The proposal accords with relevant policies of the 
development plan and with the NPPF. 

 
 The following planning policies and national guidance have been taken into 

account: 
 
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1, policies: 
CP3, CP4, CP37 

Page 106



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report  – 22 August 2018 

Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011, saved policies: 
DC5, DC6, DC7, DC9, DC10 
 
Draft Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 2, policies  
DP16, DP23, DP25, DP28 
 
(Little weight can be attached to these policies at this time due to the relatively 
early stage the plan has reached so far in the adoption process) 

  
 Stanford-in-the-Vale Neighbourhood Plan 

A draft version of the neighbourhood plan is under way and, in consequence, no 
weight can be attached to the neighbourhood plan at this time. 
 
Design Guide, 2015 
 
National Planning Policy Framework, 2018 
 
Planning Practise Guidance, 2014 
 
Equalities Act 2010 
The application has been assessed in relation to section 149 of the Equalities 
Act 2010. Officers consider no identified group will suffer discrimination as a 
result of the proposal. 
 
Human Rights Act 1998 
The application has been assessed against Articles 1 and 8 of the Human 
Rights Convention. The impact on individuals has been balanced against the 
public interest and officers consider the recommendation to be proportionate. 
 
 
Author                  Martin Deans 
Email                    martin.deans@southandvale.gov.uk 
Contact                01235 422600 
 

 

Page 107



3600

410 410

Foundation to engineers detail(shown dotted) and to
avoid existing tree roots.

2
0
0
0

1
5
0

RECONSTITUTED STONE PIER
CAPS AND COPPINGS

PLAN REF:

BYDESCRIPTIONREV DATE

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

APPLICANT:

c

The No.1 internet House Plans Supplier. Copyright      2015 -  www.selfbuildplans.co.uk

PLAN DETAILS:

SPEC

TOTAL SQFT - 

TOTAL SQM -  

PROJECT:

REV

Mr R. Plumridge

2m High Front Stone Wall

1:250  @ A2

-SBP4645/PD/04

Proposed new dwelling on land

adjacent to 59 Faringdon Road,

Stanford in the Vale, Oxon SN7 8NN

0 5 10 20 30 40

0 20 40 60 80

1:500
1:1000

50

100
0 25 50 75 100

0 50 100 150 200

1:1250
1:2500

125

250

10 20

SCALE BARS

SITE LAYOUT  1:250

GLEESON HOMES

APPROVAL REF:

P16/V2134/O

New 2m high Stone wall to match the

new dwelling with trees/vegetation to

the front, all to the approval of the LPA.

ILLUSTRATION

Appendix 1

P
age 108



Bonus room 1Bonus room 2

Lounge

WC

Dining

Kitchen
Bed 3

Bed 1

Bed 2

Bath
Study

Cpd
Ensuite

AC

Ensuite

Breakfast

Landing

wardrobe

3
2
8
0
 
[
1
0
'
-
8
"
]

3700 [12']

3
7
2
0
 
[
1
2
'
-
1
"
]

5825 [18'-11"]

3575 [11'-7"]

7
1
5
0
 
[
2
3
'
-
3
"
]

2
9
2
4
 
[
9
'
-
6
"
]

2
5
5
0
 
[
8
'
-
3
"
]

3585 [11'-8"]

2
6
9
0
 
[
8
'
-
9
"
]

3585 [11'-8"]

3590 [11'-8"]

2
6
7
5
 
[
8
'
-
8
"
]

4
3
6
0
 
[
1
4
'
-
2
"
]

Hall

Bath
3585 [11'-8"]

4
9
2
4
 
[
1
6
'
]

4
9
2
4
 
[
1
6
'
]

3635 [11'-10"]

FRONT ELEVATION

GROUND FLOOR PLAN FIRST FLOOR PLAN

SECOND FLOOR PLAN

FRONT ELEVATION 

D.P.C.

GARAGE DOOR STYLE

SHOWN IS INDICATIVE

ROOFING TILES TO L.A.

APPROVAL

7
9
6

5
7
3
0

5
4
3
0

2315

PLAN 

2315 327

2
0
0

446327
rwp

9
0
0

5730
rwp

2
1
5
8

1
2
0
0

6
7
5

SIDE ELEVATION 

D.P.C.

D.P.C.

REAR ELEVATION 

SIDE ELEVATION 

D.P.C.

10150

7
7
5
0

10150

7
7
5
0

4
6
4
5

4
4
0
3

9
0
4
8

SIDE ELEVATION

9
0
4
8

FRONT ELEVATION

SIDE ELEVATION

SCALE BARS

PLAN REF:

BYDESCRIPTIONREV DATE

SCALE:

DRAWING TITLE:

APPLICANT:

c

The No.1 internet House Plans Supplier. Copyright      2015 -  www.selfbuildplans.co.uk

PLAN DETAILS:

SPEC

TOTAL SQFT - 

TOTAL SQM -  

PROJECT:

REV

Mr R. Plumridge

Proposed Dwelling & Garage

1:50 & 1:100 @ A1

2002sqft

186sqm-SBP4645/PD/03

Proposed new dwelling on land

adjacent to 59 Faringdon Road,

Stanford in the Vale, Oxon SN7 8NN

0 0.5 1 2 3 4

0 2 4 6 8

1:50
1:100

5

10

P
age 109



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 

 
 APPLICATION NO. P18/V1328/HH 
 SITE 108 North Hinksey Lane Oxford, OX2 0LY 
 PARISH NORTH HINKSEY 
 PROPOSAL Single storey rear extension. 
 WARD MEMBER(S) Debby Hallett 

Emily Smith 
 APPLICANT Mr J. Gagg and Ms R. Nixon 
 OFFICER Lewis Dixey 

 

 
 RECOMMENDATION 
 It is recommended that planning permssion is granted subject to the 

following conditions: 
 

 Standard Conditions: 
 

1. Commencement within three years 
2. Development completed in accordance with approved plans 

 
Compliance Conditions: 
 

3. Materials in accordance with application 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL 
1.1 This application is referred to committee as the applicant is a member of staff 

at the council 
 

1.2 The property is a semi-detached dwelling located within a well-established 
residential area of North Hinksey. 
 

1.3 This application seeks planning permission for demolition of an existing rear 
extension and the erection of single storey rear extension increasing the size 
of the kitchen/dining area. The proposed development will project 3.4m from 
the rear of the dwelling with a shallow sloped roof. 
 

1.4 There are no site constraints present and a site location plan is provided 
overleaf: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110

Agenda Item 13

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P18/V1328/HH


Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

 
 

1.5 Extracts of the application plans can be found attached at Appendix 1. 
 
2.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS 

2.1 North Hinksey Parish Council No objections 

Neighbours No responses 
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

3.1 None found 
 

3.2 Pre-application History 
None 
 

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

4.1 Householder development does not fall within the defined scope for potential 
EIA development. 
 

5.0 MAIN ISSUES 
5.1 The main relevant planning considerations are the following: 

 Character and appearance; 

 Residential amenity; 

 Access and parking. 
 
 

Page 111



Vale of White Horse District Council – Committee Report – 22 August 2018 

5.2 Design and Layout 
The proposal is single storey and it is considered to be a subordinate addition 
to the main dwelling and acceptable in terms of design and materials  
The extension will project 3.4m from the rear elevation with an eave height of 
2.4m 
 

5.3 Residential Amenity 
Given the modest scale of the proposal and its location in relation to 
neighbouring dwellings, officers do not consider that the proposal would harm 
the amenities of any of the neighbouring properties in terms of dominance, 
overshadowing or overlooking. 
 

5.4 Access and parking  
The current access to the highway and parking provision for the dwelling is 
unaffected by this proposal. 
 

6.0 CONCLUSION 

6.1 The proposal would not harm the character and appearance of the area or the 
amenities of neighbours and would not impact highway safety. The proposal 
therefore complies with the provisions of the development plan, in particular 
policy CP37 of the adopted Vale of White Horse Plan 2031, Part 1 and saved 
policies DC5 and DC9 of the adopted Vale of White Horse Plan 2011. The 
works are considered to comply with the provisions of the National Planning 
Policy Framework and the council’s adopted Design Guide SPD 2015. 

 
 The following planning policies have been taken into account: 

 
Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 Part 1 policies 
 
CP37  -  Design and Local Distinctiveness 
 

 Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2011 saved policies 
 
DC5  -  Access 
DC9  -  The Impact of Development on Neighbouring Uses 
 

 Revised National Planning Policy Framework 2018 
 

 National Planning Practice Guidance 2014 
 
Equalities Act 2010 
The proposal has been assessed against section 149 of the Equalities Act. It is 
considered that no identified group will suffer discrimination as a result of this 
proposal. 
 
 
Author: Lewis Dixey  
Email: lewis.dixey@southandvale.gov.uk  
Telephone: 01235 422600 

 

Page 112

mailto:lewis.dixey@southandvale.gov.uk


Appendix 1

P
age 113



P
age 114



P
age 115


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	Planning committee minutes - 1 August 2018
	Minutes


	7 P18/V0847/HH - 36 Aldworth Avenue, Wantage, OX12 7EJ
	P18/V0847/HH - 36 Aldworth Avenue, Wantage - Appendices
	Location Plan drwgno 1384-S-02 Rev A
	Elevations and Floor Plan Proposed drwgno 1384-02 Rev B
	Site Plan drwgno1384-S-01 Rev A


	8 P18/V1049/HH - Corbiere, Springfield Road, Wantage, OX12 8EX
	P18/V1049/HH - Corbiere, Springfield Road, Wantage - Appendices
	Block Plan drwgno BLO001 Rev A
	Elevation Plan Existing drwgno P1 Rev A
	Elevation Plan Proposed drwgno P3 Rev A
	Floor Plan First Proposed drwgno P5
	Floor Plan Ground Plan Existing drwgno P2 Rev A
	Floor Plan Ground Proposed drwgno PF001


	9 P17/V2961/FUL - Land south of Kennington, East of Kennington Road, Kennington, Oxford
	P17/V2961/FUL - Land south of Kennington, East of Kennington Road, Kennington - Appendices
	1 Appendix 1
	2467.22.02.01 Rev D Site Layout Proposed
	Sheets and Views
	Layout 01


	2467.22.02.LED.L1B.01 Floor Plans House Type Ledbury 1B Proposed
	Sheets and Views
	901
	OLE3



	2467.22.02.LED.L1B.02 Elevations House Type Ledbury 1B Proposed
	Sheets and Views
	902
	OLE3



	2467.22.02.LED1B.03 Floor Plans House Type Ledbury 1B Proposed
	Sheets and Views
	904 (3)
	OLE3



	2467.22.02.LED1B.04 Elevations House Type Ledbury 1B Proposed
	Sheets and Views
	903 (2)
	OLE3



	2467.22.02.LED1B.05 Floor Plans House Type Ledbury 1B Proposed
	Sheets and Views
	904 (4)
	OLE3



	2467.22.02.01 Rev F - Layout.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout 01


	2467.22.02.LED1B.06 Elevations House Type Ledbury 1B Proposed.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	905 (2)
	OLE3





	10 P17/V2973/RM - Land North of Summertown, East Hanney
	P17/V2973/RM - Land North of Summertown, East Hanney
	C3554(A) P001 45 Unit Planning Layout Rev F
	Sheets and Views
	Planning Layout


	Block Plan drwgno 200


	11 P18/V1198/FUL - 27 Ormond Road, Wantage, OX12 8DZ
	P18/V1198/FUL - 27 Ormond Road, Wantage - Appendices
	1 Site Plan Proposal drwgno 011D
	Sheets and Views
	Site Layout proposed


	2 Elevations Proposed drwgno 003B
	Sheets and Views
	Proposed house elevations


	Composite Proposed drwgno 005A
	Sheets and Views
	Propsed elevations and Plans


	Composite Proposed drwgno 007A
	Sheets and Views
	Proposed plans




	12 P18/V0891/FUL - 59 Faringdon Road, Stanford In The Vale, Faringdon, SN7 8NN
	P18/V0891/FUL - 59 Faringdon Road, Stanford In The Vale, Faringdon - Appendice
	2018.07.18 Amended Site Plan SBP4645--PD-04 Front Stone Wall
	Elevations and Floor Plans Proposed drwgno SBP4645.PD.03


	13 P18/V1328/HH - 108 North Hinksey Lane, Oxford, OX2 0LY
	P18/V1328/HH - 108 North Hinksey Lane, Oxford - Appendices
	Block Plan drwgno NHL108.005
	Elevations Proposed drwgno NHL108.030
	Floor Plans Proposed drwgno NHL108.020





